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Holzman v. Malcolm S. Gerald & Associates, Inc., Case No. 16-16511 (11th Cir. 2019). 
So long as one can reasonably infer an implicit threat, litigation need not be explicitly threatened for a collection 
letter seeking payment of a time-barred debt to constitute a violation of § 1692e of the Fair Debt Collection Practices 
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.  
 
Marocco v. Brabec, Case No. 1D17-894 (Fla. 1st DCA 2019). 
A trial judge may not sua sponte raise and apply the Sword and Shield Doctrine to reduce a jury’s award. 
 
Dorsey v. Robinson, Case No. 1D18-1297 (Fla. 1st DCA 2019). 
For purposes of Florida Statute section 712.03(3) (the “possession exception” to the extinguishment provisions of the 
Marketable Record Title Act), being “in possession of the lands”  requires more than merely the power to occupy the 
land, and may require continued physical presence on the land. 
 
Lehmann v. Cocoanut Bayou Association, Inc., Case No. 2D15-4968 (Fla. 2d DCA 2019). 
The owner of land in a common law dedication of a street retains title to the dedicated land, but the owner of land in 
a statutory dedication does not. However, the owner of land in a statutory dedication retains a reversionary interest 
such that the land returns to the owner (or the owner’s successors in title) if the governmental authority relinquishes 
the statutory dedication. 
 
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Quest Systems, LLC, Case No. 2D17-1184 (Fla. 2d DCA 2019). 
On rehearing, the Second District holds that a promissory note modification agreement is an agreement “relating to” 
commercial paper and is self-authenticating under Florida Statute section 90.902(8). 
 
Bazzichelli v. Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Case No. 3D18-1497 (Fla. 3d DCA 2019). 
Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540(a) allows a party to amend a judgment to correct a clerical error, including an 
error in the name of one of the parties in a foreclosure judgment which error has created title issues. 
 
Kronen v. Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, Case No. 4D18-1137 (Fla. 4th DCA 2019). 
A promissory note with its loan numbers redacted as required under Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 
2.425(a)(4)(I) is entitled to the presumption of standing found in Ortiz v. PNC Bank, National Ass’n, 188 So. 3d 923, 
925 (Fla. 4th DCA 2016). 
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Florida Organic Aquaculture, LLC v. Advent Environmental Systems, LLC, Case No. 5D17-530 (Fla. 5th DCA 
2019). 
A court that rules on a Motion for Rehearing loses jurisdiction to enter further orders other than post-decretal orders, 
or orders under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540. 



                [PUBLISH] 

 

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
 

FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 
________________________ 

No. 16-16511  
________________________ 

 
D.C. Docket No. 9:16-cv-80643-RLR 

 

STEPHEN HOLZMAN,  
 
                                                                                           Plaintiff-Appellant, 
 
 versus 
 
 

MALCOLM S. GERALD & ASSOCIATES, INC., 
LVNV FUNDING, LLC, 

 
  
 
                                                                                      Defendants-Appellees. 

________________________ 
 

Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the Southern District of Florida 

________________________ 

(April 5, 2019) 
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Before TJOFLAT, JULIE CARNES, Circuit Judges, and KAPLAN,* District 
Judge. 
 
JULIE CARNES, Circuit Judge:  

 Plaintiff asserts claims under the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

(“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., and the Florida Consumer Collection 

Practices Act (“Florida Act”), Florida Statute § 559.55 et seq., arising from an 

attempt by Defendants to collect on Plaintiff’s time-barred consumer debt.  As to 

his federal claims, Plaintiff alleges in his complaint that (1) a collection letter he 

received from Defendants in connection with the debt was “false, deceptive, or 

misleading” in violation of § 1692e of the FDCPA and (2) the general practice of 

attempting to collect on time-barred consumer debts is “unfair or unconscionable” 

in violation of § 1692f of the FDCPA.  As to the claim under Florida law, Plaintiff 

contends that by sending the collection letter, Defendants violated the Florida 

Act’s prohibition against asserting a legal right that is known not to exist.   

Defendants filed a motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s FDCPA claims pursuant to 

Federal Rule 12(b)(6).  The district court granted the motion, agreeing with 

Defendants that their collection efforts did not violate either § 1692e or § 1692f of 

that statute.  Having dismissed Plaintiff’s federal claims, the court declined to 

exercise jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s Florida Act claims.  After a careful review of 

                                                 
*  Honorable Lewis A. Kaplan, Senior United States District Judge for the Southern District of 
New York, sitting by designation.  
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the record, and with the benefit of oral argument, we REVERSE the district 

court’s order dismissing Plaintiff’s claim under § 1692e of the FDCPA, but 

AFFIRM the court’s order dismissing Plaintiff’s claim under § 1692f of that same 

statute.  Given our ruling on Plaintiff’s § 1692e FDCPA claim, we reinstate 

Plaintiff’s Florida Act claim and REMAND the case to the district court for further 

proceedings consistent with this opinion.       

BACKGROUND 

 Defendant LVNV Funding, LLC (“LVNV”) is a debt collector that 

purchases and attempts to collect on time-barred debts.  In 2015, LVNV purchased 

such a debt, which had been incurred by Plaintiff on a personal credit card years 

prior and had subsequently been charged off by the original creditor in 2007.  

LVNV retained Defendant Malcolm Gerald & Associates (“Malcolm”) to collect 

the debt on LVNV’s behalf.  Like LVNV, Malcolm is a debt collector for purposes 

of the federal and state statutes at issue in this litigation.     

 In connection with its collection efforts, Malcolm sent Plaintiff a collection 

letter that reads, in relevant part:     

Original Creditor:  HSBC BANK NEVADA, N.A. 
 
BALANCE DUE:  $869.51 
 
Charge Off Date: 07/31/2007 
 
Balance Itemization 
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Principal Balance:  $615.41 
 
Interest Balance:  $254.10 
 
Please be advised that LVNV FUNDING LLC, the Current 
Creditor-Debt Purchaser has purchased the account referenced 
above.  LVNV FUNDING LLC has placed your account with us 
for collection. 
 
Malcolm S. Gerald and Associates wants to help you resolve 
your delinquent account with LVNV FUNDING LLC.  We 
would like to offer you a balance reduction to 30% of the balance 
due listed above.  We will be able to accept $260.85 as a reduced 
payment in full on your account.  To take advantage of this offer, 
the reduced amount listed must be received in our office no later 
than 05/31/2015.  We are not obligated to renew this offer. 
 
This communication is from a debt collector.  This is an attempt 
to collect a debt.  Any information obtained will be used for this 
purpose. 
 
Make check payable to:  Malcolm S. Gerald and Associates, Inc.  
If you would like to pay online, you may do so at 
https://msgpayments.com 
 

After receiving this collection letter, Plaintiff filed a putative class action 

complaint against Defendants asserting federal claims under the FDCPA, 15 

U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., and its state corollary, the Florida Consumer Collection 

Practices Act, Florida Statute § 559.55 et seq.  In support of his FDCPA claims, 

Plaintiff alleged that (1) the letter was “false, deceptive, or misleading” in violation 

of § 1692e of the FDCPA because it could lead a consumer to believe that there 

were legal consequences to not making the requested payment when, in fact, the 
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statute of limitations barred legal enforcement of the debt and (2) attempting to 

collect on Plaintiff’s time-barred debt via the letter constituted an “unfair or 

unconscionable” practice in violation of § 1692f of the FDCPA.  Plaintiff further 

alleged that the letter violated the Florida Act because it falsely asserted a legal 

right that Defendants knew did not exist.        

 Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiff’s complaint pursuant to Federal Rule 

12(b)(6).  In an oral ruling and following a hearing on the motion, the district court 

dismissed Plaintiff’s FDCPA claims with prejudice.  In support of its ruling, the 

court cited Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Services, Inc., 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 

2001), Huertas v. Galaxy Asset Management, 641 F.3d 28 (3d Cir. 2011), and 

Ehrich v. Convergent Outsourcing, Inc., 2015 WL 6470453 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 28, 

2015) for the legal principle that:  “the FDCPA permits debt collector[s] to see[k] 

voluntary repayment of . . . time-barred debt so long as the debt collector does not 

initiate or threaten legal action in connection with its debt collection efforts.”  The 

court determined that the letter Plaintiff received did not contain any language that 

could be interpreted as initiating or threatening legal action.  Thus, accepting the 

legal principle announced in Freyermuth, Huertas, and Ehrich, the court concluded 

that Plaintiff’s allegations did not assert a plausible violation of the FDCPA.     

 In so ruling, the district court distinguished Daugherty v. Convergent 

Outsourcing, Inc., 836 F.3d 507 (5th Cir. 2016), Buchanan v. Northland Group., 
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Inc., 776 F.3d 393 (6th Cir. 2015), and McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC, 744 

F.3d 1010 (7th Cir. 2014), in which the Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh Circuits, 

respectively, held that a collection letter offering to “settle” a time-barred debt, but 

not threatening litigation, could nonetheless serve as the basis for an FDCPA 

claim.  The district court noted that the collection letter Plaintiff received offered to 

“resolve” his time-barred debt, not “settle” it.  According to the court, the “settle” 

language used in the letters at issue in Daugherty, Buchanan, and McMahon was 

more akin to a threat of legal action than the “resolve” language used in the letter 

Plaintiff received.  Consequently, the court determined that Plaintiff could not state 

a viable FDCPA claim under the rationale of Daugherty, Buchanan, or McMahon.       

 Having dismissed Plaintiff’s FDCPA claims, the district court declined to 

exercise pendant jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s Florida Act claim.  The court thus 

dismissed this claim without prejudice.     

 Plaintiff appeals the dismissal of his FDCPA and Florida Act claims.  As 

noted, Plaintiff argues that he has presented a plausible claim that the collection 

letter he received from Defendants was “false, deceptive, or misleading” in 

violation of § 1692e of the FDCPA, given that the debt referenced in the letter was 

legally unenforceable.  In addition, Plaintiff argues that the general practice of 

attempting to collect time-barred consumer debts is per se “unfair or 

unconscionable” in violation of § 1692f of the FDCPA.  Assuming his federal 
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claims are revived pursuant to either argument, Plaintiff asserts that his state claim 

should be reinstated and addressed on the merits.   

DISCUSSION 

I. Standard of Review 

We review the decision to dismiss Plaintiff’s complaint pursuant to Rule 

12(b)(6) de novo, applying the same standard as the district court.  See West v. 

Warden, Comm’r, Ala. Dep’t of Corr., 869 F.3d 1289, 1296 (11th Cir. 2017).  In 

conducting our review, we accept the allegations in Plaintiff’s complaint as true 

and we construe the facts in the light most favorable to his claims.  See id.  

Viewing the complaint in that manner, the relevant inquiry is whether Plaintiff has 

stated a “plausible claim for relief” under the FDCPA.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 

662, 679 (2009).  If he has, then the district court’s order dismissing Plaintiff’s 

FDCPA claims must be reversed and the Florida Act claim must be reinstated.  See 

id.; 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) (granting district courts supplemental jurisdiction over all 

claims that are “so related to claims in the action within [the] original jurisdiction 

[of the court] that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article 

III”).            

II. Plaintiff’s FDCPA Claims 

The FDCPA protects consumers from abusive debt collection practices by 

regulating the conduct of debt collectors.  See Crawford v. LVNV Funding LLC, 
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758 F.3d 1254, 1257 (11th Cir. 2014) (noting that “Congress passed the FDCPA in 

1977 to stop the use of abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by 

many debt collectors” (internal quotation marks omitted)).  To enforce its 

provisions, the FDCPA provides consumers with a private right of action against 

debt collectors who violate the Act.  See id. at 1258.  Assuming Plaintiff’s 

allegations are true, Defendants qualify as debt collectors for purposes of the 

FDCPA and are thus subject to the Act’s regulations.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) 

(defining “debt collector” to include “any person who . . . regularly collects or 

attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed 

or due another”).   

As noted, Plaintiff alleges (1) that the collection letter he received from 

Defendants was “false, deceptive, or misleading” in violation of § 1692e of the 

FDCPA and (2) that attempting to collect on Plaintiff’s time-barred debt via the 

letter constituted an “unfair or unconscionable” debt collection practice in violation 

of § 1692f the FDCPA.  The relevant inquiry at this stage of the litigation is 

whether Plaintiff has alleged a plausible violation of either provision.  See Iqbal, 

556 U.S. at 679.  To determine whether that is so, we apply the “least-sophisticated 

consumer” standard.  See LeBlanc v. Unifund CCR Partners, 601 F.3d 1185, 1193, 

1201 (11th Cir. 2010) (explaining that the least-sophisticated consumer standard 

applies to determine whether a debt collector has violated §§ 1692e or 1692f of the 
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FDCPA).  Under that standard, a debt collector violates § 1692e by making a 

representation in a collection letter that would be deceptive or misleading to the 

“least sophisticated” recipient of the letter.  See id. at 1193–95.  Likewise, a 

collection practice violates § 1692f if it would be unfair or unconscionable as 

applied to the “least sophisticated” debtor subjected to the practice.  See id. at 

1201.   

The least-sophisticated consumer standard is intended to protect “all 

consumers, the gullible as well as the shrewd.”  Id. at 1194 (internal quotation 

marks omitted).  As such, the “least-sophisticated consumer” is presumed to have 

only a “rudimentary amount of information about the world.”  Id.  Nevertheless, it 

is assumed that the least-sophisticated consumer will be “willing[] to read a 

collection notice with some care.”  LeBlanc, 601 F.3d at 1194 (internal quotation 

marks omitted).  Moreover, the least-sophisticated consumer standard “has an 

objective component in that while protecting naive consumers, the standard also 

prevents liability for bizarre or idiosyncratic interpretations of collection notices by 

preserving a quotient of reasonableness.”  Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).  

Finally, whether a representation made in a collection letter would be deceptive or 

misleading to the least-sophisticated consumer, or a collection practice would be 

unfair or unconscionable when applied to the least-sophisticated consumer, 

generally is a question of fact to be decided by a jury.  See id. at 1195, 1201.     
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A. The collection letter Plaintiff received plausibly could be 
misleading or deceptive to the “least sophisticated consumer” in 
violation of § 1692e. 

 
 Section 1692e of the FDCPA states that:  “A debt collector may not use any 

false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the 

collection of any debt.”  15 U.S.C. § 1692e.  It then provides a non-exhaustive list 

of specific conduct that is prohibited, including:  (1) falsely representing “the 

character, amount, or legal status of any debt” and (2) threatening “any action that 

cannot legally be taken or that is not intended to be taken.”  Id. § 1692e(2)(A), (5).  

There is no question that these provisions prohibit a debt collector from suing or 

threatening to sue on a time-barred debt, and federal courts have uniformly so held.  

See Crawford, 758 F.3d at 1259 (collecting cases).  The question presented by this 

case asks more specifically:  to what extent does the above prohibition extend 

beyond a threat to sue on a time-barred debt and encompass a potentially—albeit 

more subtly—misleading offer to “resolve” such a debt when there is no 

accompanying disclosure that the debt is time-barred. 

 This Court has not ruled on the above issue, and the appellate courts that 

have done so have taken different approaches.  In a case factually similar to this 

one, the Third Circuit suggested that a threat of litigation is necessary to state a 

claim under § 1692e.  See Huertas, 641 F.3d at 33.  The plaintiff in Huertas had 

received a collection letter notifying him that his defaulted debt had been 
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reassigned and requesting him to call the debt collector to “resolve this issue.”  See 

id.  Although the letter did not make any overtly false representations, the plaintiff 

argued that it was misleading as to the legal enforceability of the referenced debt, 

thus violating § 1692e of the FDCPA.  See id. at 32–33.  The Huertas Court 

dismissed Plaintiff’s § 1692e claim, noting that the FDCPA generally permits a 

debt collector to seek voluntary repayment of a time-barred debt so long as it does 

not threaten legal action and concluding that “[e]ven the least sophisticated 

consumer would not understand” the letter to “threaten litigation.”  Id. at 33.  The 

Eighth Circuit similarly has indicated that a threat to sue is necessary to establish a 

violation of § 1692e in this scenario.  See Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (“[I]n the 

absence of a threat of litigation or actual litigation, no violation of the FDCPA has 

occurred when a debt collector attempts to collect on a potentially time-barred debt 

that is otherwise valid.”).   

 In contrast to Huertas and Freyermuth, the Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh Circuits 

disagree that a collection letter referencing a time-barred debt cannot violate the 

FDCPA absent an express threat of litigation.  See Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 509; 

Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 399–400; McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020.  In each of these 

cases, a debt collector sent a letter offering to “settle” the debtor’s account for a 

percentage of the total balance.  Although technically accurate in every other 

respect, each of these collection letters failed to disclose that the referenced debt 
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was, in fact, time-barred and thus legally unenforceable.  Contrary to the result 

reached in Huertas and Freyermuth, the appellate courts in Daugherty, Buchanan, 

and McMahon held that the debtors had stated a claim under § 1692e of the 

FDCPA because an offer to “settle” a time-barred debt, without an accompanying 

disclosure that the debt is judicially unenforceable, plausibly could mislead an 

unsophisticated consumer as to the legal unenforceability of the debt.  See 

Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511; Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 398–400; McMahon, 744 F.3d 

at 1020–21.  

 In reaching this conclusion, the courts in Daugherty, Buchanan, and 

McMahon recognized that, as a general matter, a creditor can seek voluntary 

payment of a time-barred debt.  See Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 509 (observing that “it 

is not automatically unlawful for a debt collector to seek payment of a time-barred 

debt”); Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 397 (“There . . . is nothing wrong with informing 

debtors that a debt remains unpaid or . . . allowing them to satisfy the debt at a 

discount.”); McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (“[S]ome people might consider full debt 

re-payment a moral obligation, even though the legal remedy for the debt has been 

extinguished.”).  Nevertheless, a right to seek repayment does not confer a right to 

mislead.  And each of these courts held that a collection letter offering to “settle” a 

time-barred debt could give rise to a claim under § 1692e of the FDCPA, even in 

the absence of an express threat of litigation.  See Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511; 
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Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 399–400; McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020.  Their reasoning is 

summed up by the Fifth Circuit’s statement in Daugherty that: 

While it is not automatically unlawful for a debt collector to seek 
payment of a time-barred debt, a collection letter violates the FDCPA 
when its statements could mislead an unsophisticated consumer to 
believe that her time-barred debt is legally enforceable, regardless of 
whether litigation is threatened. 
 

Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 509. 

 Further, notwithstanding its prior decision in Huertas, the Third Circuit 

recently has adopted the rationale of Daugherty, Buchanan, and McMahon.  See 

Tatis v. Allied Interstate, LLC, 882 F.3d 422, 428–30 (3d Cir. 2018).  The plaintiff 

in Tatis asserted a claim under § 1692e of the FDCPA based on a letter she 

received from a debt collector offering to settle a time-barred consumer debt, but 

failing to disclose that the debt was legally unenforceable.  See id. at 425.  Relying 

primarily on Huertas, the district court dismissed the claim pursuant to Rule 

12(b)(6) because the letter did not include a threat of legal action.  See id. at 426.  

Reversing and ruling based on the reasoning set forth in Daugherty, Buchanan, and 

McMahon, the Third Circuit held that a collection letter “may run afoul of the 

FDCPA by misleading or deceiving debtors into believing they have a legal 

obligation to repay time-barred debts even when the letters do not threaten legal 

action.”  Id. at 428.  Explaining its implicit disavowal of Huertas, the Tatis court 

stated: 
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Huertas stands for the proposition that debt collectors do not violate 
[the specific prohibition found in] 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A) when they 
seek voluntary repayment of stale debts, so long as they do not threaten 
or take legal action.  But the FDCPA sweeps far more broadly than the 
specific provision found in § 1692e(2)(A).  It prohibits “any false, 
deceptive, or misleading representation” associated with debt-
collection practices. 
 

Id. (emphasis in original).  As to the FDCPA’s general prohibition of any false, 

deceptive, or misleading representation, Tatis held that the plaintiff had established 

a plausible violation by pleading that she had received a collection letter offering to 

settle her debt but failing to disclose that this time-barred debt was legally 

unenforceable.  Tatis, 882 F.3d at 430.   

 We are persuaded by the reasoning of Daugherty, Buchanan, and 

McMahon—and, most recently, Tatis.  We likewise conclude that with regard to a 

collection letter seeking payment on a time-barred debt, an express threat of 

litigation is not required to state a claim for relief under § 1692e so long as one can 

reasonably infer an implicit threat.  This holding finds support both in the plain 

language of § 1692e and in a common-sense application of the least-sophisticated 

consumer standard in the Rule 12(b)(6) context.  See Tatis, 882 F.3d at 429 

(observing that “[c]ommon sense, our case law, and traditional tools of statutory 

interpretation foreclose” a construction of the FDCPA to “require a threat of legal 

action” under these circumstances).  As quoted above, § 1692e specifically 

prohibits a debt collector not only from threatening to take any action “that cannot 
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legally be taken” (i.e., threatening litigation on a time-barred debt) but also from 

misrepresenting the “legal status” of a debt.  15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A), (5).  More 

broadly, § 1692e prohibits a debt collector from making “any false, deceptive, or 

misleading representation” in a collection letter.  Id. § 1692e (emphasis added). 

In their motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), Defendants argue that, as a 

matter of law, the particular representation at issue in the collection letter would 

not mislead or deceive an unsophisticated consumer as to the legal status of, or the 

legal ramifications of non-payment on, a time-barred debt.  In examining this 

argument in a motion to dismiss context, the question is whether it is plausible that 

a reasonable jury could find that this representation would so mislead an 

unsophisticated consumer.  See Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (“To survive a motion to 

dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to 

state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” (internal quotation marks 

omitted)); LeBlanc, 601 F.3d at 1195–97 (a court may decide this question as a 

matter of law only if there is no basis for a reasonable jury to conclude that a 

consumer would be deceived or misled).  The language of the present collection 

letter contains an offer to “resolve” a time-barred debt, combined with a deadline 

to accept the reduced-payment offer and a warning that the offer might not be 

renewed if payment is not timely made.  We conclude that this language, taken in 

Case: 16-16511     Date Filed: 04/05/2019     Page: 15 of 20 



16 
 

its entirety, could plausibly deceive or mislead an unsophisticated consumer as to 

the legal status of the debt, even in the absence of an express threat of litigation.      

Further, we are not persuaded that this case is materially distinguishable 

from Daugherty, Buchanan, and McMahon merely because the letter Plaintiff 

received offers to “resolve” the referenced time-barred debt rather than “settle” it.  

Despite the slight semantic difference, it still is plausible that the letter Plaintiff 

received would leave an unsophisticated consumer with the same general—and 

inaccurate—impression as did the letters at issue in Daugherty, McMahon, and 

Buchanan.  That is, by urging the debtor to “take advantage” of the offer, the letter 

might have caused an unsophisticated consumer to mistakenly believe that the debt 

was legally enforceable and that he had something to gain by accepting the offer, 

or to lose by declining it.  In fact, the letter reinforces this impression by 

announcing a deadline, thus creating some urgency for the debtor to accept the 

offered terms by making payment.  In this regard, the letter states that payment 

“must be received in our office no later than 5/31/2015” and that Defendants are 

“not obligated to renew” the offer.  As Plaintiff points out, an unsophisticated 

reader might conclude from this language that he is being presented with an 

ultimatum, and that failure to make payment within the required time frame would 

result in negative consequences, such as legal action.               
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 Finally, we disagree that our holding in this case will require debt collectors 

to give legal advice to debtors, as Defendants argue.  Essentially, Defendants argue 

that by permitting Plaintiff’s case to go beyond the pleading stage, we put debt 

collectors in the untenable position of having to analyze and advise debtors as to 

the merits of any potential statute of limitations defense.  Whether or not that 

concern might be valid in some situations, the suggestion that Defendants would 

have had to conduct any legal analysis to determine whether the debt in this case 

was time-barred seems a bit disingenuous.  After all, Defendants were aware of the 

status of Plaintiff’s debt when they purchased it, presumably at a heavily 

discounted price that accounted for the fact that its legal enforcement is barred by 

the statute of limitations.  But in any event, the court in Buchanan specifically and 

adequately addressed the concern raised by Defendants, explaining that:   

[I]f a debt collector is unsure about the applicable statute of limitations, 
it would be easy to include general language about that possibility, 
correcting any possible misimpression by unsophisticated consumers 
without venturing into the realm of legal advice. 
  

Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 400 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  And in 

fact, Defendant LVNV has, subsequent to the letter it sent to Plaintiff in this case, 

incorporated such language into its collection letters.  See Shields v. J.C. 

Christensen & Assoc., Inc., 2017 WL 1106085, at *1 (S.D. Ind. Mar. 24, 2017) 

(quoting the following language from a recent LVNV collection letter:  “The law 

limits how long you can be sued on a debt.  Because of the age of your debt, 
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LVNV Funding LLC will not sue you for it, and LVNV Funding LLC will not 

report it to any credit reporting agency.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).  

 In short, it is at least plausible that the collection letter Defendants sent to 

Plaintiff would have been “false, deceptive, or misleading” to the “least 

sophisticated” recipient of the letter, in violation of § 1692e of the FDCPA.  As 

Plaintiff has thus stated a claim for relief under § 1692e of the FDCPA, the district 

court’s order dismissing Plaintiff’s § 1692e claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) is 

REVERSED.        

B. Attempting to collect on time-barred debt is not a per se unfair or 
unconscionable practice that automatically violates § 1692f of the 
FDCPA. 

 
 Although we find that Plaintiff has stated a plausible claim that Defendants’ 

collection letter was misleading under § 1692e, we reject Plaintiff’s claim that the 

general practice of attempting to collect on time-barred debt is per se unfair or 

unconscionable in violation of 1692f of the FDCPA.  The only legal support 

Plaintiff offers for this argument is the Seventh Circuit’s recent opinion in Pantoja 

v. Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC, 852 F.3d 679, 684 (7th Cir. 2017).  In 

Pantoja, the Seventh Circuit reiterated its decision in McMahon that an 

unsophisticated consumer could potentially be misled by a letter seeking collection 

on a time-barred debt.  See id.  Then, thinking out loud, the court briefly expressed 

some thoughts about the practice of collecting on time-barred debt, observing that:    
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[T]he opportunities for mischief and deception, particularly when 
sophisticated parties aim carefully crafted messages at unsophisticated 
consumers, may well be so great that the better approach is simply to 
find that any such efforts violate the FDCPA’s prohibitions on 
deceptive or misleading means to collect debts, § 1692e, and on “unfair 
or unconscionable means” to attempt to collect debts, § 1692f. 

   
Id.  Ultimately, however, the Pantoja Court never articulated such a general 

prohibition, noting that:  (1) the plaintiff had not argued for it and (2) the case 

could be decided on narrower grounds.  Id.   

 The Seventh Circuit’s observations in Pantoja notwithstanding, courts 

generally have recognized that the FDCPA does not impose a bright-line rule 

prohibiting debt collectors from attempting to collect on time-barred debt.  See 

Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 509 (noting that “it is not automatically unlawful for a debt 

collector to seek payment of a time-barred debt”); Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 397 

(“Legal defenses are not moral defenses, however.  And a creditor remains free, in 

the absence of a bankruptcy order or something comparable preventing it from 

trying to collect the debt, to let the debtor know what the debt is and to ask her to 

pay it.”).  Pantoja does not offer adequate justification for upending that general 

rule, nor does Plaintiff suggest any alternative ground for finding that Defendants 

engaged in an “unfair or unconscionable” debt collection practice in violation of 

§ 1692f of the FDCPA.  Accordingly, the Court affirms the district court’s 

dismissal of Plaintiff’s claim under § 1692f.   
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III. Plaintiff’s Florida Act Claim 

 The district court did not dismiss Plaintiff’s Florida claim on substantive 

grounds, but rather declined to exercise pendent jurisdiction over it after 

dismissing Plaintiff’s federal FDCPA claims.  In light of the Court’s reversal of the 

ruling as to Plaintiff’s claim under § 1692e of the FDCPA, Plaintiff’s Florida claim 

should be reinstated for consideration on the merits.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) 

(“[T]he district courts shall have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims 

that are so related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction that they 

form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States 

Constitution.”).     

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM in part and REVERSE in part the 

district court’s ruling dismissing Plaintiff’s FDCPA claims pursuant to Rule 

12(b)(6) and declining to exercise jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s Florida Act claim.  

The case is REMANDED to the district court for further proceedings consistent 

with this opinion. 
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WETHERELL, J. 
 

This case arose out of a dispute over interior design and 
construction work performed by Appellees on Appellant Peter 
Marocco’s properties in 2008.  The litigation in the trial court, 
which spanned more than eight years (and four circuit judges), was 
acrimonious and took many twists and turns,1 most of which have 

                                         
1  For example, in case number 1D13-3314, we per curiam 

affirmed the dismissal of a suit filed by Marocco against Appellees’ 
attorney related to the attorney’s representation of Appellees in 
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no bearing on the issues in this appeal and cross-appeal.  Thus, 
what follows is only a brief overview of the facts and the 
proceedings in the trial court. 
 

Factual and Procedural Background 
 
In July 2008, while in the process of remodeling his two 

properties in Tallahassee, Marocco went overseas for his 
employment.  His neighbors, Russell and Rose Marie Brabec, 
offered to act as liaisons for Marocco with the contractors and 
laborers doing the remodeling work to ensure that the work was 
completed while Marocco was away.  However, upon his return 
home, Marocco discovered that the Brabecs and their interior 
design firm, Design & More, Inc. (collectively, “Appellees”), had 
performed—and billed him for—significantly more work on the 
properties than he had authorized.   

 
Thereafter, Marocco sued Appellees for damages, claiming 

that they breached their fiduciary duty to him, exceeded the 
authorized scope of work, acted negligently, and slandered his title 
by recording fraudulent liens.  The damages sought by Marocco 
included the wages he allegedly lost because the liens recorded by 
Appellees on his properties adversely affected his top secret 
security clearance,2 which in turn, cost him lucrative jobs with 
government contractors working on classified projects.  

 
Appellees responded that all of the work they performed on 

Marocco’s properties was done with his consent, and they filed 
compulsory counterclaims for breach of contract, unjust 
enrichment, and lien foreclosure through which they sought to 
recover payment for their work.  They also filed a permissive 

                                         
this case.  See Marocco v. Dunlap, 2014 WL 2809093 (Fla. 1st DCA 
June 23, 2014). 

2  Marocco had a SCI (sensitive compartmented information) 
top secret security clearance which, according to the security 
expert who testified at trial, is the highest security clearance level 
and gave Marocco access to classified information that was only 
accessible on a “need-to-know basis.”  
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counterclaim alleging that Marocco committed fraud during the 
litigation in order to get a prior judge off the case,3 but the trial 
court severed that counterclaim from the remaining claims shortly 
before trial and dismissed it “with leave to amend with the 
requisite specificity.”   

 
After a week-long trial, the jury found in favor of Marocco on 

his claims for breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, and slander of 
title.  The jury also found in favor of Marocco on Appellees’ lien 
foreclosure and breach of contract counterclaims, but the jury 
found in favor of Design & More on its counterclaim for unjust 
enrichment.  The jury awarded Marocco a total of $511,625 on his 
claims and awarded Design & More $2,505.95 on its counterclaim. 

 
The award to Marocco was comprised of $1,125 in damages on 

his breach of fiduciary duty and negligence claims against Mr. 
Brabec and $510,500 in damages (for his lost wages) on his slander 
of title claim against Design & More.  No damages were awarded 
against Mrs. Brabec.   

 
After the trial, and without a motion from Appellees,4 the trial 

court entered what amounts to a sua sponte judgment 
notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) on Marocco’s claim for lost 
wages based on the court’s determination that (1) the lost wages 

                                         
3  Specifically, Appellees alleged that Marocco conspired with 

a third-party to dupe them into hiring the prior judge’s wife, who 
was an artist, to consult with them on what turned out to be a 
sham project in order to give Marocco grounds for a motion to 
disqualify the prior judge. 

4  Appellees pointed out at oral argument that they did not 
have a chance to file a post-verdict motion because less than a 
week after the trial ended, the judge convened a hearing at which 
she announced her decision not to include the lost wages awarded 
by the jury in the final judgment.  Although Marocco was given an 
opportunity to present argument (or, as the judge called it, 
“statements for the record”) after the judge announced her ruling, 
the post-trial procedure followed by the judge in this case was 
unorthodox, at best. 
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claim was barred by the sword and shield doctrine5 and (2) 
Marocco’s lost wages were not proximately caused6 by Appellees’ 
wrongdoing and instead “were the direct result of his own decision 
. . . to keep litigating” after the case had conditionally settled.  The 
trial court entered final judgment in accordance with the 
remainder of the jury verdict, awarding $1,125 to Marocco and 
$2,505.95 to Design & More.  The trial court declined to award 
attorney’s fees to either party. 

 
This appeal and cross appeal followed. 

 
Analysis 

 
Marocco raises seven issues on appeal:  (1) the trial court erred 

in sua sponte raising the sword and shield doctrine and striking 
the jury award for lost wages; (2) the trial court erred in striking 
the jury award for lost wages based on a lack of proximate cause; 
(3) the trial court erred in relying on section 713.28, Florida 
Statutes, to strike the lost wages award; (4) the trial court erred in 
denying attorney’s fees and costs to which a predecessor judge had 
previously awarded entitlement; (5) the trial court erred in 
denying attorney’s fees and costs to Marocco pursuant to section 
713.29, Florida Statutes; (6) the trial court erred in denying 
attorney’s fees and costs to Marocco pursuant to section 713.31, 
Florida Statutes; and (7) the trial court erred in denying Marocco’s 

                                         
5  “[T]he ‘sword and shield’ metaphor . . . embraces the rule 

‘that a plaintiff may not seek affirmative relief in a civil action and 
then invoke the Fifth Amendment to avoid giving discovery in 
matters pertinent to the litigation.’”  DeLisi v. Bankers Ins. Co., 
436 So. 2d 1099, 1100 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (quoting City of St. 
Petersburg v. Houghton, 362 So.2d 681, 685 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978)). 

 
6  Although the final judgment also described the lost wages 

as “far beyond the edge of the Palsgraf [v. Long Island Railroad 
Co., 162 N.E. 99 (N.Y. 1928)] zone of reasonable foreseeability,” it 
is clear from the judgment as a whole that the lost wages were 
stricken based on the trial judge’s determination that they were 
not proximately caused by the liens, not because lost wages are not 
recoverable as a matter of law in this context. 
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motion for summary judgment on Appellees’ counterclaim for 
unjust enrichment.  On cross-appeal, Appellees raise only one 
issue: the trial court erred in dismissing their fraud counterclaim.   

 
We affirm issues 4 and 7 without discussion, and we affirm 

issue 3 because, as Appellees correctly point out in their answer 
brief, the trial court did not rely on section 713.28, Florida 
Statutes, to strike the lost wages award.  We dismiss the cross-
appeal for lack of jurisdiction because an order dismissing a 
permissive counterclaim with leave to amend is a non-appealable 
nonfinal order, see Minty v. Meister Financialgroup, Inc., 97 So. 3d 
926, 932 (Fla. 4th DCA 2012), and we reverse issues 1, 2, 5, and 6 
for the reasons that follow. 

 
On issue 1, we agree with Marocco that the trial court erred 

in raising the sword and shield doctrine sua sponte.  The trial 
court’s role is to adjudicate the case by ruling on the issues raised 
by the parties, not to litigate the case by raising issues for the 
parties.  See, e.g., Shore Mariner Condo. Ass’n v. Antonious, 722 
So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (“Trial judges must studiously 
avoid the appearance of favoring one party in a lawsuit, and 
suggesting to counsel or a party how to proceed strategically 
constitutes a breach of this principle.”); Chastine v. Broome, 629 
So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (“Obviously, the trial judge 
serves as the neutral arbiter in the proceedings and must not enter 
the fray by giving ‘tips’ to either side.”).  Here, the record reflects 
that the sword and shield doctrine had not been raised in this case 
until the trial judge interjected it at a pretrial conference three 
weeks before the trial was set to begin.7  We recognize that 
Appellees subsequently raised the doctrine in their motions for 
directed verdict at trial, but that was only after the trial judge 
foreshadowed her post-trial ruling at another pretrial conference 
by expressing her unsolicited opinion that there had been a “major 
violation of [the sword and shield doctrine] in this case.” 
 

                                         
7  At the pretrial conference where the trial judge first raised 

the sword and shield doctrine, she candidly acknowledged that “I 
don’t have any motion [on the issue] in front of me at this point.”   
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We also agree with Marocco that the trial court erred in 
applying the sword and shield doctrine in this case because, 
contrary to the finding in the final judgment that Marocco 
“block[ed] discovery” pertinent to his lost wages claim, the record 
shows that Marocco did not shield himself from the discovery of 
information relevant to that claim.  Although early in the case 
Marocco did seek a protective order for all information related to 
his employment, no order was ever entered, and Appellees were 
ultimately able to depose Marocco and obtain relevant financial 
documents prior to trial.  Although the disclosures and deposition 
occurred shortly before trial and well after the discovery cut-off, 
Appellees did not seek a continuance of the trial to obtain 
additional discovery or prepare for trial, and the trial court did not 
find that Appellees were prejudiced by the late discovery.8  Under 
these circumstances, it was an abuse of discretion for the trial 
court to strike the lost wages claim post-trial.  Cf. Binger v. King 
Pest Control, 401 So. 2d 1310, 1313-14 (Fla. 1981) (explaining that 
the trial court has discretion to exclude evidence that is not timely 
disclosed during discovery if the resulting prejudice to the 
opposing party cannot otherwise be cured); Village Inn Restaurant 
v. Aridi, 543 So. 2d 778, 782 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (explaining that 
sanctions short of dismissal may be imposed under the sword and 
shield doctrine).    

 
On issue 2, we agree with Marocco that the trial court erred 

in setting aside the jury’s determination that Marocco’s lost wages 
were proximately caused by Appellees’ actions.  Evidence was 
presented at trial from which the jury could—and apparently did—
find that Marocco’s lost wages were caused by the liens recorded 
by Appellees.  Specifically, the jury heard evidence that Marocco 
informed Mr. Brabec several months before Appellees filed their 
liens that liens recorded in the public record would adversely 
impact his employment.9  Moreover, the court’s post-trial ruling 

                                         
8  We have not overlooked the finding in the final judgment 

that the financial discovery provided by Marocco was essentially 
too little, too late, but the record simply does not support that 
characterization. 

9  Appellees argued that they could not have possibly known 
the extent of the impact because Marocco did not disclose the 
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was not based on a consideration of the evidence presented to the 
jury, but rather on the court’s opinion—informed by “the court’s 
knowledge of the rest of the picture”—that Marocco’s lost wages 
were solely caused by his failure to settle the case.  If it is improper 
for a trial court to reweigh the evidence presented to the jury when 
ruling on a post-trial motion for JNOV—and it is, see New 
Jerusalem Church of God, Inc. v. Sneads Community Church, Inc., 
147 So. 3d 25 (Fla. 1st DCA 2013), it is equally, if not more, 
inappropriate for the court to grant a JNOV sua sponte based on 
information that was not presented to the jury. 

 
Based on the foregoing, we reverse the JNOV granted by the 

trial court with respect to Marocco’s lost wages and remand for 
entry of an amended final judgment in accordance with the jury 
verdict on that issue. 

 
On issue 5, we disagree with Marocco’s argument that he was 

entitled to an award of attorney’s fees under section 713.29, 
Florida Statutes, simply because he successfully defeated 
Appellees’ efforts to foreclose their liens.  Section 713.29 provides 
for an award of attorney’s fees to the prevailing party in an action 
to enforce a lien, but “prevailing party” has been construed to mean 
the party who prevails on the “significant issues” in the entire 
litigation, not just the lien claim.  See Trytek v. Gale Indus., Inc., 3 
So. 3d 1194, 1202 (Fla. 2009); Prosperi v. Code, Inc., 626 So. 2d 
1360, 1362-63 (Fla. 1993).   

 
Here, the trial court did not necessarily abuse its discretion in 

denying attorney’s fees to Marocco under the “significant issues” 
test because even though he successfully defended against 
Appellees’ lien foreclosure claim, the jury found in favor of Design 

                                         
nature of his work, but that is not the issue.  Rather, the issue is 
whether, based on the evidence presented, it was foreseeable that 
Marocco would suffer some amount of lost wages based on the filing 
of the liens.  In this context, foreseeability was a fact question for 
the jury.  See McCain v. Fla. Power Corp., 593 So. 2d 500, 504 (Fla. 
1992) (explaining that “the question of foreseeability as it relates 
to proximate causation generally must be left to the fact-finder to 
resolve”). 
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& More on its counterclaim for unjust enrichment.  See Prosperi, 
626 So. 2d at 1362 (“[I]t was obviously not the intent of the 
legislature to award attorney’s fees to a defendant in a mechanics’ 
lien foreclosure merely because he successfully defends against the 
impression of a lien yet is nevertheless found liable in damages, in 
the same case, for labor and/or materials furnished for his 
benefit.”) (quoting Emery v. Int’l Glass & Mfg., Inc., 249 So. 2d 496, 
500 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971)). Nevertheless, because our disposition on 
issues 1 and 2 might impact the balancing required under the 
significant issues test, we reverse the denial of attorney’s fees 
under section 713.29 and remand for reconsideration in light of 
this opinion. 

 
On issue 6, we disagree with Marocco’s argument that he was 

entitled to an award of attorney’s fees under section 713.31, 
Florida Statutes, simply because the jury found that Appellees 
exaggerated the amount of their liens.  Section 713.31 provides for 
an award of attorney’s fees to the party who prevails in an action 
to foreclose a fraudulent lien and it defines “fraudulent lien” to 
include liens in which the lienor has willfully exaggerated the 
amount of the lien.  See § 713.31(2)(a), (2)(c), Fla. Stat.  However, 
an award of prevailing party attorney’s fees under this statute is 
subject to the same “significant issues” test that governs an award 
of fees under section 713.29.  See Newman v. Guerra, 208 So. 3d 
314, 317-19 (Fla. 4th DCA 2017) (holding that the “significant 
issues” test adopted in Trytek and Prosperi also applies to motions 
seeking attorney’s fees under section 713.31).  Accordingly, 
although the trial court did not necessarily abuse its discretion in 
determining that Marocco was not entitled to attorney’s fees under 
section 713.31, we reverse and remand for reconsideration in light 
of this opinion because our disposition on issues 1 and 2 might 
impact the balancing required under the significant issues test. 
 

Conclusion 
 
Based on the foregoing, we reverse the final judgment and 

remand for entry of an amended final judgment in accordance with 
the jury’s verdict in its entirety; reverse the orders denying 
Marocco’s motions for attorney’s fees and remand for 
reconsideration in light of this opinion; and dismiss Appellees’ 
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cross-appeal for lack of jurisdiction.  In all other respects, we 
affirm. 

 
AFFIRMED in part; REVERSED in part; DISMISSED in part; 

REMANDED with directions. 
 
OSTERHAUS and WINOKUR, JJ., concur. 
 

_____________________________ 
 
Not final until disposition of any timely and 
authorized motion under Fla. R. App. P. 9.330 or 
9.331. 

_____________________________ 
 
 

Mark V. Murray, Tallahassee; and Terry P. Roberts of Law Office 
of Terry P. Roberts, Tallahassee, for Appellant/Cross-Appellee. 
 
Davisson F. Dunlap, Jr., of Dunlap & Shipman, P.A., Tallahassee, 
for Appellees/Cross-Appellants. 
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PER CURIAM. 
 

Eddie Dorsey, Audrey Dorsey, Cynthia Riggins, Johnnie Mae 
Dorsey, James Dorsey, Lillie Dorsey, Jocelyn Hightower, Lorenzo 
McCray, and Dolors McCray (Appellants) appeal a final judgment 
quieting title to property in favor of Franklin Robinson, Josephine 
Robinson, and Mary Thompson (Appellees).  Appellants raise four 
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issues on appeal, only the first of which merits discussion. 
Appellants argue that the trial court erred by extinguishing the 
fee simple interests of Eddie, Johnnie Mae, James, and Lillie.  For 
the reasons that follow, we disagree with Appellants and affirm 
the final judgment.   

BACKGROUND 

In 1911, Lizzie McClary and Ella McCollough, two sisters, 
obtained a forty-acre property by a recorded deed.  In 1985, a 
recorded deed vested the southern twenty acres of the forty-acre 
property in Lillie Dorsey, Mary Thompson, and Josephine 
Robinson, who are sisters and some of the grandchildren of Ella.  
In fact, all the parties are descendants of Ella.  In 2005, the three 
sisters signed two deeds—one deed vested in Lillie two acres of the 
southern twenty-acre parcel, which included a house, and the 
other deed vested in Mary and Josephine the remaining eighteen 
acres of the southern twenty-acre parcel.  In 2007, Mary and 
Josephine deeded the eighteen acres to themselves and to 
Josephine’s son Franklin Robinson.   

In 2016, Appellees brought an action against Appellants for 
quieting title, ejectment, trespass (which was later dismissed), and 
declaratory judgment.  Appellants filed a counter-complaint for 
quieting title and partition.  The parties disputed in part what 
interests, if any, Appellants have in the eighteen acres of the 
southern twenty-acre parcel.  Appellants claimed they are fee 
simple owners, whereas Appellees contended that they have at 
most a possessory interest.  Appellees stipulated that Eddie 
Dorsey, Audrey Dorsey, Lorenzo McCray, Dolors McCray, Johnnie 
Mae Dorsey, and Jocelyn Hightower satisfy the possession 
exception of section 712.03(3), Florida Statutes, to the Marketable 
Record Title Act (“MRTA”) and, thus, have a right of possession 
with regard to the property they currently possess.   

Following a non-jury trial, the trial court entered a final 
judgment, finding that the evidence supported Appellees’ 
concession that the six Appellants meet the possession exception 
of section 712.03(3), as well as their claim that Lillie Dorsey and 
James Dorsey do not meet that exception as to the eighteen acres.  
The court further found that Appellants have no legal interest of 
record and did not demonstrate that they have a fee simple or other 



3 
 

ownership interest in the land.  The court concluded that the 1985 
deed is a valid root of title under the MRTA and that except for the 
Appellants who are in possession of certain areas of the eighteen 
acres pursuant to section 712.03(3), the rest of the Appellants have 
no rights to ownership or possession in the eighteen acres.  
Accordingly, the court quieted all rights, title, and interest to the 
eighteen acres in Appellees, except for the Appellants who have a 
possessory interest under section 712.03(3).  This appeal followed. 

ANALYSIS 

Questions of statutory construction are reviewed de novo.  W. 
Fla. Reg’l Med. Ctr., Inc. v. See, 79 So. 3d 1, 8 (Fla. 2012).  The 
polestar of statutory construction is legislative intent, and to 
discern legislative intent, the court must first look to the plain and 
obvious meaning of the statute’s text, which may be discerned from 
a dictionary.  Id. at 9.  If the statutory language is clear and 
unambiguous, the court must apply that unequivocal meaning and 
may not resort to the rules of statutory construction.  Id.   

The MRTA was enacted in 1963 and provides that: 

Any person having the legal capacity to own land in this 
state, who, alone or together with her or his predecessors 
in title, has been vested with any estate in land of record 
for 30 years or more, shall have a marketable record title 
to such estate in said land, which shall be free and clear 
of all claims except the matters set forth as exceptions to 
marketability in s. 712.03. A person shall have a 
marketable record title when the public records disclosed 
a record title transaction affecting the title to the land 
which has been of record for not less than 30 years 
purporting to create such estate either in: 

(1) The person claiming such estate; or 

(2) Some other person from whom, by one or more title 
transactions, such estate has passed to the person 
claiming such estate, with nothing appearing of record, in 
either case, purporting to divest such claimant of the 
estate claimed. 
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§ 712.02, Fla. Stat. (2016).  Subject to section 712.03, “a 
marketable record title is free and clear of all estates, interests, 
claims, or charges, the existence of which depends upon any act, 
title transaction, event, or omission that occurred before the 
effective date of the root of title”; except as provided in section 
712.03, “all such estates, interests, claims, or charges . . . are 
declared to be null and void.”  § 712.04, Fla. Stat. (2016).   

The legislative intent is for the MRTA to “be liberally 
construed” to effectuate its “purpose of simplifying and facilitating 
land title transactions.”  § 712.10, Fla. Stat. (2016).  The MRTA 
accomplishes that purpose in two ways: “First, it gives to a person 
marketable title when public records disclose a title transaction, of 
record for at least thirty years, which purports to create the estate 
either in that person or in someone else from whom the estate has 
passed to that person.”  ITT Rayonier, Inc. v. Wadsworth, 346 So. 
2d 1004, 1008-09 (Fla. 1977).  Second, subject to enumerated 
exceptions, “it extinguishes all interests in the estate which 
predate the root of title.’”  Id.; see also § 712.10, Fla. Stat. (stating 
that the MRTA accomplishes its purpose “by allowing persons to 
rely on a record title as described in s. 712.02 subject only to such 
limitations as appear in s. 712.03”).  As such, “[t]he chief purpose 
of the act is to extinguish stale claims and ancient defects against 
the title to real property, and, accordingly, limit the period of [title] 
search.”  Cirelli v. Ent, 885 So. 2d 423, 433 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) 
(quoting City of Miami v. St. Joe Paper Co., 364 So. 2d 439 (Fla. 
1978)); see also Fla. Dep’t of Transp. v. Clipper Bay Investments, 
LLC, 160 So. 3d 858, 863-65 (Fla. 2015) (noting that the MRTA is 
a curative act and eliminates stale claims to real property, with 
certain enumerated exceptions, and that the burden of 
demonstrating the applicability of an exception to marketability 
rests with the party claiming the exception).   

Here, there is no dispute that the 1985 deed is a valid root of 
title and Appellees have had an unbroken chain of title for at least 
thirty years since the deed was recorded.  The question is whether 
some of the Appellants meet an exception to marketability.   

There are nine exceptions to marketability under section 
712.03, which provides in part: 
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Such marketable record title shall not affect or extinguish 
the following rights:  

. . . . 

(3) Rights of any person in possession of the lands, so long 
as such person is in such possession.   

(4) Estates, interests, claims, or charges arising out of a 
title transaction which has been recorded subsequent to 
the effective date of the root of title. 

§ 712.03, Fla. Stat. (2016).   

The parties disagree on what constitutes “possession” under 
section 712.03(3), which is the only exception at issue.  The MRTA 
does not define the term “possession”; thus, we look to the 
dictionary definition to discern the plain meaning of the statute’s 
text.  See Boatman v. Hardee, 254 So. 3d 604, 608 (Fla. 1st DCA 
2018) (“‘When necessary, the plain and ordinary meaning of words 
can be ascertained by reference to a dictionary.’” (quoting Reform 
Party of Florida v. Black, 885 So. 2d 303, 312 (Fla. 2004)).  
“Possession” is defined as occupancy or control.  See BLACK’S LAW 
DICTIONARY (10th ed. 2014) (defining “possession” as “[t]he fact of 
having or holding property in one’s power; the exercise of dominion 
over property,” “[t]he right under which one may exercise control 
over something to the exclusion of all others,” “[s]omething that a 
person owns or controls”); MERRIAM-WEBSTER DICTIONARY 
(defining “possession” as “control or occupancy of property without 
regard to ownership,” “ownership,” “something owned, occupied, or 
controlled”); OXFORD DICTIONARIES (defining “possession” in law 
as “[v]isible power or control over something, as distinct from 
lawful ownership; holding or occupancy as distinct from 
ownership”); see also Dep't of Transp. v. Mid-Peninsula Realty Inv. 
Grp., LLC, 171 So. 3d 771, 772 (Fla. 2d DCA 2015) (finding that 
the trial court properly resorted to the dictionaries to define 
“possession” under section 712.03(3) as “visible power or control 
over something, as distinct from lawful ownership; holding or 
occupancy; control or occupancy,” and concluding that the evidence 
of the appellant’s employees periodically traversing the land to 
access a canal and its actions in asking a company to move sheds 
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and vehicles from the land was insufficient to satisfy the definition 
of possession). 

Appellants argue that the trial court erred by finding that 
they failed to establish possession for purposes of section 712.03(3) 
as to James and Lillie Dorsey.  The evidence shows that James 
owns a mobile home on the southern twenty-acre parcel, but he 
moved off the property in 1982.  Upon moving, he allowed his ex-
wife to continue living in the home until her death in 2014.  The 
home has been unoccupied since then, though he continues to pay 
the yearly mobile home tag, otherwise maintains the home, and 
cuts the grass.  He testified that he has absolute control over the 
mobile home and would not need Appellees’ permission to lease it.  
As such, it is undisputed that James does not occupy the property, 
and the question becomes whether he has sufficient control to 
satisfy section 712.03(3).  While James has control over the mobile 
home, we conclude that the evidence is insufficient to establish his 
control of the lands to prove the applicability of the exception.  See 
§ 712.03(3), Fla. Stat. (requiring “possession of the lands”).  We 
find significant the evidence that at least part of James’s mobile 
home is located on the two acres Lillie owns, not on the eighteen 
acres at issue.   

As for Lillie, while the evidence demonstrates that she has 
been residing on the southern twenty-acre parcel, it likewise 
establishes that she relinquished her interest in the eighteen acres 
at issue in exchange for the remaining two acres through the 2005 
deed so she could build a home on her lot.  Appellants claim on 
appeal that Lillie’s home is actually located on the eighteen acres, 
not on her two acres as found by the trial court, but there is no 
competent, substantial evidence in the record to support that 
assertion.  Therefore, we agree with the trial court’s conclusion 
that James and Lillie Dorsey do not satisfy the section 712.03(3) 
exception to marketability and, thus, have no interest in the 
eighteen acres at issue.    

Appellants further argue that the trial court erred by reducing 
the inherited fee simple interests of Johnnie Mae and Eddie 
Dorsey to possessory interests.  Appellants base their ownership 
claim on two 1970s probate orders that determined the heirs of 
Ella McCollough and Lizzie McClary and the shares of those heirs’ 
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interest in the sisters’ estates, and they point to the laws of 
intestate succession.  However, as the trial court found, Appellants 
presented no evidence of a legal interest of record in the eighteen 
acres.  Nor did they present competent, substantial evidence about 
when various family members died, whether they died intestate, 
and who survived them.  See § 732.101, Fla. Stat. (2016) (providing 
that any part of an estate not disposed of by will passes to the 
decedent’s heirs as prescribed in the probate code and the 
decedent’s death is the event that vests the heirs’ right to the 
intestate property); § 732.102, Fla. Stat. (2016) (setting forth the 
intestate share of the surviving spouse depending on whether the 
decedent and/or surviving spouse have any surviving 
descendants); § 732.103, Fla. Stat. (2016) (setting forth the share 
of the other heirs).  Therefore, we agree with the trial court’s 
finding that Appellants failed to establish a fee simple interest in 
the subject property.   

Accordingly, we affirm the final judgment.   

AFFIRMED. 

LEWIS, ROWE, and MAKAR, JJ., concur. 
 

_____________________________ 
 
Not final until disposition of any timely and 
authorized motion under Fla. R. App. P. 9.330 or 
9.331. 

_____________________________ 
 
 

Wendy S. Loquasto of Fox & Loquasto, LLC, Tallahassee, for 
Appellants. 
 
Joseph R. Boyd and James M. Durant, Jr., of Boyd & Durant, P.L., 
Tallahassee, for Appellees. 
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SALARIO, Judge.

This is one mess of a dispute over title to real property.  It involves a 

parcel of land on Siesta Key in Sarasota County, various portions of which were 

conveyed in more than one deed to more than one person over the span of decades.  
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Many of the property descriptions in those deeds include boundaries defined by streets 

that no longer exist and that have changed names.  Much of the land that once defined 

the boundaries of the property has been swallowed up by the Gulf of Mexico.  There is 

no simple, reliable drawing in our record that clearly explains to the layman what the 

parcel looks like in relation to its surroundings.  The applicable law has changed over 

time.  Getting to the bottom of the case has been a bit like untangling spaghetti.    

The bottom line is this.  At our direction after a previous appeal, see 

Lehmann v. Cocoanut Bayou Ass'n, 157 So. 3d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 2014), the trial court 

conducted proceedings to determine ownership of the disputed parcel of land.1  It 

divided the parcel into three parts and settled title with Joseph and Therese Lehmann 

for two of those parts and Cocoanut Bayou Association for one.  The Association has 

not challenged that part of the trial court's final judgment that found in favor of the 

Lehmanns—perhaps because the parts of the disputed parcel they were found to own 

now lie largely underneath the Gulf—and we affirm the judgment to that extent.  We 

conclude, however, that the Lehmanns also own the third part of the parcel because 

they or their predecessors in title owned the property extending to the centerlines of the 

roads that used to be there, either because they always had title to that property by 

virtue of having had title to the lots abutting those roads or because they had a 

reversionary interest in the land underneath the roads that vested when the roads were 

vacated by Sarasota County.  We reverse the trial court's order to the extent it awarded 

1The original opinion did not involve a final settlement of the question of 
ownership of the part of the disputed parcel at issue in this appeal, but rather the 
application of the Marketable Record Title Act, ch. 712, Fla. Stat. (2012), to the root of 
title for the deeds expressly conveying title to the lands in and adjacent to it. 
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part of the parcel to the Association and remand with directions to quiet title to all of the 

disputed parcel in favor of the Lehmanns.

The Disputed Parcel

The disputed parcel lies in what was originally known as the Siesta 

subdivision and is now called the Cocoanut Bayou subdivision.  Today, it is a narrow 

strip of land that is at its widest point twelve and one-half feet wide and eighty-six feet 

long.  Based on a 1912 revised plat for the Siesta subdivision, the parcel would have 

been bordered on the east by the western edge of a short, east-west road called Bee 

Street that ended at the eastern edge of a north-south road called Gulf Avenue.  The 

parcel's twelve-and-one-half-foot width would have been bounded to the north by the 

extended center point of Bee Street and to the south by an extension of Bee Street's 

southern boundary and the northern boundary of Lot 10 of Block 60 of the subdivision.  

It would have extended westward from Bee Street at Block 60 to the shores of Bayou 

Louise.  On the western side of Bayou Louise were additional platted lots and, on the 

other side of those, the Gulf of Mexico.  As shown in the 1912 revised plat, the disputed 

parcel and its surrounding land looked like this (with the approximate disputed parcel 

circled in the area to the west of Bee Street):2

2Neither this nor any other drawing used in this opinion is intended to 
suggest technical accuracy of measurement or description.  The drawings are intended 
simply to provide the reader with a rough visual depiction of what is described in the 
text.



- 4 -

The subdivision was partially replatted in 1944.  For reasons that are not 

clear from our record, the area called Gulf Avenue a/k/a Shell Road in the 1912 revised 

plat is named only Shell Road in the replat.3  By the time of the replat, the Gulf had 

overtaken the lots that once existed on the western side of Bayou Louise, and much of 

the bayou had become dry land susceptible to being conveyed.  On the western side of 

Shell Road there was a small area of dry land and then the Gulf.  Circumstances remain 

much the same today except that Sarasota County vacated Bee Street in 1949 and Gulf 

Avenue in 1983.  Whatever right or title the County had in those lands is gone, and Bee 

3There is a factual issue as to whether Gulf Avenue and Shell Road are 
the same roads covering the same area.  Except where further description is necessary, 
we refer to the land designated on the 1912 plat (as Gulf Avenue) and on the 1944 
replat (as Shell Road) as Gulf Avenue for simplicity's sake.  Both plats show the 
roadway as in approximately the same place north to south when accounting for 
changes in the shoreline east to west.  Both plats show the road as parallel to the 
waterline of what was, in 1912, Bayou Louise, which changed over time to become dry 
land and eventually part of the Gulf of Mexico.  This change may partially explain the 
discrepancies regarding the exact location of the road on these plats.
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Street and Gulf Avenue no longer exist as roads.  Also, virtually all of the dry land west 

of what was Gulf Avenue has been swallowed up by the Gulf. 

With this understanding of the nature of the disputed parcel behind us, we 

now turn to the competing claims of ownership to that parcel.

The Competing Chains of Title

Understanding the competing claims of ownership to the disputed parcel 

requires understanding the recorded deeds purporting to convey title to that land.  The 

beginning of the story for our purposes is that all of the property in the Siesta 

subdivision was originally owned by E.S. and Helen Boyd, with one exception.  The 

exception is Lots 10 and 11 of Block 60—recall that Lot 10 abuts what was Bee Street 

on its south side and what was Gulf Avenue on its east side—which were originally 

owned by Kathleen Ingalls.

In 1945, Ms. Ingalls conveyed title to Lots 10 and 11 to James and Alice 

Thomas.  In 1946, the Boyds conveyed title to Lots 9, 12, 13, 14, and the north half of 

Lot 15 to the Thomases.  The deed also conveyed title to land located to the west of 

Gulf Avenue described by metes and bounds.  That metes and bounds description had 

its point of beginning at the centerline of Bee Street extended beyond the end of Bee 

Street to the west side of Gulf Avenue.  The line was then extended west to the waters 

of the Gulf, south along the water's edge for a distance, then east to the western edge 

of Gulf Avenue, then north back to the point of beginning.  That conveyance covered all 

of the property to the west of the part of the disputed parcel at issue in this appeal and 

looked—very roughly—something like this:
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See also Lehmann, 157 So. 3d at 290 (describing the property conveyed in the 1945 

Ingalls-to-Thomas deed and the 1946 Boyd-to-Thomas deed).

In October 1949, Sarasota County executed a deed vacating Bee Street, 

thereby relinquishing any title or interest it had in the property.  The parties have 

stipulated that the Association thereby obtained title to the north half of Bee Street, and 

the Thomases, as the owners of Lots 9 and 10, obtained title to the south half.  As a 

result, the Thomases' property bordered Gulf Avenue on both the east and west sides 

from the centerline of Bee Street to the south as of 1949.  In December 1949, the 

Thomases conveyed Lots 9, 12, 13, 14, the north half of Lot 15, and the property 

described by metes and bounds in the 1945 Ingalls-to-Thomas deed to Ms. Thomas 

individually.  In a corrective deed in 1950, Mr. Thomas conveyed the property described 
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in the October 1949 deed together with Lots 10 and 11, which had not been conveyed 

in the 1949 deed. 

Now things are about to get more complex.  In 1952, the Boyds deeded 

some property to the Association.4  That deed conveyed title to the south 100 feet of 

Block 59, which shared a boundary with what was once the northern boundary of Bee 

Street.  And it also purported to convey title to land adjacent to the northern border of 

the property deeded to the Thomases by way of the Ingalls-to-Thomas deed.  That land 

was described by metes and bounds.  The point of beginning was the western edge of 

Higel Avenue—a street immediately east of Blocks 59 and 60—one hundred feet to the 

north of the centerline of Bee Street.  From there, it went west to the Gulf, south to the 

southern side of an extended Bee Street, east back to the point where Bee Street had 

once ended at Gulf Avenue, north to the centerline of Bee Street, east to Higel Avenue, 

and then north to the point of beginning.  That conveyance included much of the land 

titled in the Association to the north of the disputed parcel today, as well as the disputed 

parcel.  It excluded all of what was once Bee Street's southern half that the Association 

has stipulated vested with the Thomases through the Ingalls chain of title in 1949.  It 

looked something like this:

4To be precise, the Boyds actually deeded the property to a predecessor 
entity to the Association.  Because the predecessor entity is irrelevant here, and for the 
sake of simplicity, we refer only to the Association and its predecessors as the 
Association throughout this opinion.
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See also Lehmann, 157 So. 3d at 290-91 (describing the property conveyed in the 1952 

Boyd-to-Association deed).

To the extent it is not obvious, there is a problem here.  The Boyd-to-

Association deed also includes a chunk of land—everything that deed tried to convey 

west of Gulf Avenue—that the Boyds had expressly deeded to the Thomases back in 

1946.  In 1952, the Boyds no longer had title to that land.  And to the extent the deed 

they gave the Association tried to convey it, it was a wild deed.  See Lehmann, 157 So. 

3d at 293 (holding that the 1952 Boyd-to-Association deed was wild as to that portion of 

land).  The Boyd-to-Association deed also purported to convey title to the area from the 

intersection of Bee Street and Gulf Avenue on the eastern edge of Gulf Avenue to the 

boundaries of the expressly-deeded Thomas land to the west of Gulf Avenue—land 

which comprises part of the disputed parcel.  The land both to the west and to the east 

of Gulf Avenue south of the extended centerline of Bee Street was not owned by the 
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Boyds when the 1952 conveyance purported to pass title to the land under Gulf Avenue 

south of the centerline of Bee Street to the Association.

There is still more.  In 1964, Ms. Thomas deeded Lots 10, 11, 12, the 

north twelve and one-half feet of Lot 13, and the northerly eighty-seven and one-half 

feet of Lot 9 to her daughter, Alice Thomas Shannon.  That deed also included property 

described in metes and bounds as the land between the westerly boundary of the 

conveyed lots bounded on the north by the westerly extension of the north line of Lot 10 

to the Gulf and on the south by the westerly extension of the north line of the north one-

half of Lot 13.  That description includes land on what used to be Gulf Avenue that was 

not expressly conveyed by the 1946 Boyd-to-Thomas deed—Ms. Shannon's root of title 

—but that nonetheless was properly conveyed for the reasons we describe below.

The property Ms. Thomas deeded to Ms. Shannon passed to multiple 

buyers in multiple transactions until coming to rest with the Lehmanns in 1979.  When 

they purchased the property, Mr. Lehmann became aware that the chain of title 

represented conflicting claims to ownership of the disputed parcel.  In what appears to 

be an attempt to protect their interest in that parcel, Mr. Lehmann deeded that parcel to 

his then-wife Judy in 1982.  There were subsequent transactions related to this 

property, but none are relevant to this appeal.

Two additional points relevant to these conveyances deserve mention now 

because they will become important later.  First, neither the 1912 nor the 1944 plat 

maps contain any express reservations of rights other than riparian rights, which are not 

at issue here.  Second, our record does not reflect that any of the relevant deeds 

contain language reserving title to areas designated as streets or reserving reversionary 

interests in such areas to the dedicators, and neither party has argued that they do.    
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The Final Judgment and the Appellate Issues

The history of this litigation is long, but it is not too important.  What the 

reader needs to know is that the case was previously before this court on an appeal 

from a final judgment rendered after a nonjury trial settling title to the whole of the 

disputed parcel in the Association based on a claim it had asserted under the 

Marketable Record Title Act.  See Lehmann, 157 So. 3d at 291-92.  We reversed that 

aspect of the final judgment, affirmed insofar as it rejected the Lehmann's counterclaim 

for adverse possession, and remanded for a decision about who owns the disputed 

parcel (once the appeal had settled the wild deed and Marketable Record Title Act 

issues).  Id. at 294.

On remand, based in substantial part on the record developed in the 

nonjury trial, the trial court divided the disputed parcel into parts designated 1, 2, and 3 

and held that the Lehmanns and the Association each owned parts of the disputed 

parcel.  The trial court's division of the property looked something like this:5

5This map was used by the trial court in its final judgment to explain its 
division of the disputed parcel.  There is a question as to whether the map accurately 
reflects the relevant boundaries.  We do not need to resolve that question because this 
opinion concludes that all of the chains of title lead to the Lehmanns as the owners of all 
of the disputed parcel.  We use this map to show what the trial court did and to give the 
reader a rough sense of what the disputed parcel and its three parts look like.
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The trial court held that the Association owned part 1, which is bounded 

on the north by the extended centerline of Bee Street and on the south by the extended 

south line of Bee Street—essentially, that portion of the property that used to be part of 

Gulf Avenue—based on the 1952 Boyd-to-Association deed.  It then held that parts 2 

and 3—most of which now lie under the Gulf, but some of which may have also fallen 

under Gulf Avenue from the west—were owned by the Lehmanns based on the 1945 

Boyd-to-Thomas deed.  The trial court quieted title accordingly.

The Lehmanns appeal that portion of the judgment quieting title in part 1 in 

favor of the Association.  We review the trial court's findings of fact for competent 

substantial evidence and its legal conclusions de novo.  See Corya v. Sanders, 155 So. 

3d 1279, 1283 (Fla. 4th DCA 2015) ("After a nonjury trial, review of trial court decisions 
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based on legal questions are reviewed de novo and those based on findings of fact from 

disputed evidence are reviewed for competent, substantial evidence.").  The Lehmanns 

raise three issues.  First, they argue that the 1945 Ingalls-to-Thomas deed and the 1946 

Boyd-to-Thomas deed included reversionary interests in the land underneath Bee Street 

and Gulf Avenue, such that when Sarasota County vacated those roads, title to the land 

passed to the Thomases and, thereafter, to the Lehmanns.  Second, they assert that as 

owners of the lots abutting Bee Street and Gulf Avenue, the Boyds and Ms. Ingalls had 

title to that land and conveyed it to the Thomases, such that title ultimately passed to 

the Lehmanns.  Third, they argue that the evidence was insufficient to support the trial 

court's findings as to the boundaries of Gulf Avenue and, relatedly, that the trial court 

relied for this purpose on an inaccurate exhibit never admitted into evidence.6  As we 

discuss below, we resolve the case based on the first two arguments, rendering it 

unnecessary for us to address the third.

Framing the Issues: How We Determine Who Owns Part 1

The central question in this case is whether the Lehmanns or the 

Association hold title to what used to be Gulf Avenue at the point where the southern 

half of Bee Street ended.  In our prior opinion, we recognized that that property was not 

expressly included in the 1946 Boyd-to-Thomas deed but was expressly included in the 

6The Lehmanns also raise an issue related to the trial court's order 
dissolving a stay and directing disbursement of funds held in the registry of the court 
that only indirectly relates to the title determinations that are the subject of this opinion.  
Because of our reversal on the substantive issue, that portion of the final judgment must 
also be reversed.  To the extent the final judgment also made other findings, such as 
those related to adverse possession, those portions of the judgment were not 
challenged, and we affirm them without further comment.
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1952 Boyd-to-Association deed.  See Lehmann, 157 So. 3d at 290-91.  The trial court 

on remand found that fact dispositive of the question of who owned the land in part 1 

and quieted title in favor of the Association based on the express conveyance of it in the 

1952 deed.  Although its order did not explicitly address whether title to part 1 passed to 

the Lehmanns' predecessors in title before the 1952 Boyd-to-Association deed by 

means other than an express conveyance, its decision necessarily rejects that 

argument.  That rejection is important to our consideration of this appeal.  See Gulfwind 

S., Inc. v. Jones, 775 So. 2d 311, 313 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000) ("[T]he trial court impliedly 

made certain findings of fact that require the reversal . . . .").

If someone other than the Boyds held title to part 1 before the 1952 Boyd-

to-Thomas deed, however, that deed could not have conveyed title to part 1 to the 

Association.  See Lehmann, 157 So. 2d at 293 (describing a deed attempting to convey 

title to a parcel that the purported conveyor of title does not own at the time of 

conveyance as wild).  We know that title to part 1 was not expressly conveyed in a deed 

before 1952.  Thus, we must consider whether, before the 1952 deed, someone other 

than the Boyds had title to part 1 by means other than an express conveyance and 

whether title vested with the Lehmanns as a result.

The question of whether someone else obtained title to part 1 by means 

other than an express conveyance requires us to consider how title passes to the lands 

underneath areas designated on plat maps as streets.  A plat map is "[a] document 

showing the legal divisions of land by lot, street, and block number" that may be referred 

to for purposes of describing the property depicted on the map in conveyances and the 

like.  Plat map, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).  In general, the designation of 

land on a plat map as a street may evidence either a common law dedication or a 
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statutory dedication of that land for use as a street.  See generally Pelican Creek 

Homeowners, LLC v. Pulverenti, 243 So. 3d 467, 470-71 (Fla. 5th DCA 2018) 

(describing ways in which land may be dedicated on a plat map as a street).

The difference between common law and statutory dedications is 

significant for purposes of determining who owns the underlying land.  In the absence of 

a clear intention to the contrary, a common law dedication "does not divest the owner of 

the title to the land, but only subjects the land and the title to the public easement for 

street purposes," with title remaining in the dedicator or his or her successors in title.  

Robbins v. White, 42 So. 841, 841-44 (Fla. 1907); see also Burkhart v. City of Fort 

Lauderdale, 156 So. 2d 752, 757 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963), quashed on other grounds, 168 

So. 2d 65 (Fla. 1964).  Under the language of the applicable statutes governing 

statutory dedications, a statutory dedication vests title in a state, county, or municipal 

government—depending on the circumstances—and divests the dedicator of his or her 

title in the underlying land.  See § 95.361, Fla. Stat. (2018) (expressing the current 

mechanism for accomplishing a statutory dedication); § 341.51, Fla. Stat. (1935) 

(expressing the mechanism for accomplishing a statutory dedication in effect from 1935 

to 1955); Pelican Creek, 243 So. 3d at 471 (describing the effect of a statutory 

dedication).  Thus, while the owner of land in a common law dedication of a street 

retains title to the land and is free to convey it, the owner in a statutory dedication does 

not and cannot.  As we explain later, however, the owner in a statutory dedication may 

retain a reversionary interest in the land such that when the government's 

relinquishment of that dedication becomes effective, that future interest to the land vests 

in the owner or his successor in title.
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Here, we have two plat maps—one recorded in 1912 and one recorded in 

1944—each of which designates Bee Street and Gulf Avenue as streets.  Turning first 

to the 1912 plat map, the dedication of Bee Street and Gulf Avenue was of necessity a 

common law dedication because, in 1912, there was no statute under which a statutory 

dedication could have been accomplished.  Common law was the only option.  The 

record contains no evidence that by putting Gulf Avenue and Bee Street on the 1912 

plat map, the property owners intended anything other than a public easement.  As 

such, by operation of law, the owners of the land designated as Gulf Avenue and Bee 

Streets on the 1912 plat reserved for themselves title to that property subject only to 

public easements created by placing those streets on the plat map.  See Smith v. Horn, 

70 So. 435, 436 (Fla. 1915) (explaining that when a plat map shows spaces for streets, 

"the owner thereby evinces an intention to dedicate an easement in the streets . . . to 

the public use as such, the title to the land under the street remaining in the owner or 

his grantees"); Robbins, 42 So. at 843-44 (same).  As such, the owners of the land 

depicted on the plat map as streets were able to convey that land notwithstanding the 

public's dedicated right to use it as a street.  See Pelican Creek, 243 So. 3d at 471.

Pay attention here, because this leads to a legal wrinkle that is central to 

this case.  From the time of the 1912 plat through to today, it has been the law that 

when property owners retain title to an area subject to a public use easement as a 

street, title to the land up to the centerline of the street is conveyed by any conveyance 

of the land abutting the street unless title is expressly reserved by the grantor.  See, 

e.g., Smith, 70 So. at 436 ("[T]he title of the grantees of subdivisions abutting on such 

streets, in the absence of a contrary showing, extends to the center of such highway, 

subject to the public easement."); Pelican Creek, 243 So. 3d at 471 ("When the owner 
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of a tract of land makes a subdivision and includes on the plat a dedication of roads . . ., 

the conveyance of the lots abutting the roads . . . includes title to the property subject to 

the easement, unless expressly reserved by the dedicator.").7  As such, the state of play 

between the 1912 plat and the 1944 partial replat was (1) there was a north-south 

common law easement between the end of Bee Street and the shore of Bayou Louise; 

(2) those holding title to the land abutting the property encumbered by the easement (as 

relevant here, Ms. Ingalls and the Boyds) took title to the land encumbered by the 

easement; and (3) those persons could convey title to the property encumbered by the 

easement by conveying title to the abutting land without reserving to themselves title to 

the property encumbered by the easement. 

The question then becomes whether the partial 1944 replat or anything 

thereafter changed the state of play.  The answer is that it is at least theoretically 

possible.  Unlike the situation at the time of the 1912 plat, there was a statutory method 

to dedicate a street in 1944—section 341.59, Florida Statutes (1944).  It provided that a 

statutory dedication occurs when a street constructed by a county or the state has been 

"maintained, kept in repair or worked for a period of four years continuously and 

uninterruptedly by" the county or the state and that a statutory dedication may be 

proven by the filing with the appropriate circuit court clerk of a map certified by an 

appropriate state or county official reciting that the land had vested in the state or 

county, as appropriate.  Id.  This was the law when Sarasota County vacated Bee Street 

in 1949.  And the law was substantially similar—although amended to account for 

7The same principle is true when such a street is bounded on one side by
navigable waters except that titleholder of the abutting, nonsubmerged land on the other 
side of the dedicated street holds title to the entire street.  See Bonifay v. Dickson, 459 
So. 2d 1089, 1095-96 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). 



- 17 -

dedication to municipalities—when Gulf Avenue was vacated by Sarasota County in 

1983.  See § 95.361, Fla. Stat. (1983).  The trial court did not make a finding as to 

whether a statutory dedication of Bee Street or Gulf Avenue ever occurred, and we are 

not able to answer that question definitively from the record we have. 

Part of the Lehmanns' argument on appeal implies that there may have 

been statutory dedications of Bee Street and Gulf Avenue to Sarasota County.  They 

assert that the legal consequence of a statutory dedication would be that the 

landowners abutting those streets held reversionary interests in the land underneath the 

streets extending to their centerlines that would vest—granting them title to the land—if 

the land was vacated by Sarasota County.8  See § 177.085, Fla. Stat. (1983) (governing 

reversionary interests in platted streets when Gulf Avenue was vacated); § 341.66, Fla. 

Stat. (1972) (original version of this statute).  The parties also agree that something like 

this principle existed when Sarasota County vacated Bee Street in 1949 because they 

stipulated in the trial court that the Association got title to the north half of Bee Street 

and the Thomases got title to the south half by way of the vesting of reversionary 

interests at the time the street was vacated by the County.  The disputed question about 

possible reversionary interests thus relates only to Gulf Avenue.

The Association argues that the reversionary-interest principle does not 

apply to Gulf Avenue because Gulf Avenue was not a formally platted road in 1912 or in 

8The term reversion or reversionary interest is used in multiple ways by 
the parties here.  As relevant to our analysis, a reversion or reversionary interest is 
simply "[a] future interest left in the transferor or successor in interest," and any property 
interest becomes vested when "the right to its enjoyment, either present or future, is not 
subject to the happening of a condition precedent."  Interest, Black's Law Dictionary 
(10th ed. 2014).
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1944.  Because Gulf Avenue was plainly dedicated on both plats, we take the 

Association's argument to mean that Gulf Avenue was not a statutorily dedicated road.  

The Lehmanns disagree both with the position that the reversionary-interest principle 

does not apply and also with effect on the chain of title to part 1 if, as the Association 

contends, it does not.  Neither party has done much to help us answer the question of 

whether Gulf Avenue was ever statutorily dedicated such that the reversionary interest 

principle does apply.  Ultimately, however, we do not need to answer that question.  

Gulf Avenue incontestably appeared on both the 1912 and 1944 plats.  If there was not 

a statutory dedication of Gulf Avenue, then there necessarily was a common law 

dedication resulting in an easement granting the public use of that land as a street, as 

described above.  See also Fla. E. Coast Ry. Co. v. Worley, 38 So. 618, 621 (Fla. 1905) 

(holding that the placement of streets on a plat map "evinces an intention to dedicate 

the streets to public use as such" and that "[t]his is true although there is no formal 

written dedication accompanying the map").  As a result, either the abutting-lands 

principle applies because there was a common law dedication or the reversionary-

interest principle applies because there was a statutory one.

As such, to determine whether title to that land passed by a means other 

than an express conveyance in the 1952 deed, we need consider only two possibilities.  

The first is that prior to 1952, a deed or deeds conveyed title to Gulf Avenue subject to 

an easement allowing that land to be used as a street by conveying title to the abutting 

land and not expressly reserving title to the street to the grantor, such that the land 

encumbered by the easement could be transferred subject to that easement at any 

time.  The second possibility is that prior to 1952, a deed or deeds conveyed a 

reversionary interest in the land underneath Gulf Avenue by virtue of conveying the land 
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adjacent to Gulf Avenue, which reversionary interest vested and became actual title 

when Sarasota County vacated Gulf Avenue in 1983, thereby surrendering the title it 

had held previously.9  For the reasons that follow, either possibility leads to the 

conclusion that part 1 of the disputed parcel belongs to the Lehmanns.

The nub of the reason why is that in the absence of a reservation of title or 

the reservation of a reversionary interest somewhere in the chain of title, both the 

abutting-lands principle and the reversionary-interest principle answer the question of 

who owns the land underneath a road by looking at who owns the land abutting that 

road and recognizing that the abutting landowner has either title to or a reversionary 

interest in the land underlying the road to its centerline.  So to determine the outcome 

under either principle, we have to look at the chains of title to the lands to the west and 

east of Gulf Avenue—i.e., title on either side of the centerline of Gulf Avenue to its 

corresponding eastern and western boundaries is determined by looking at the 

titleholders on each side of it.  For purposes of this analysis, then, one can consider part 

1 of the disputed parcel as two subparts divided to the east and west by the centerline 

9We are not tasked with deciding whether the County constructed or 
maintained the roadway so as to claim a dedicated interest by way of the related 
statutes, see Chackal v. Staples, 991 So. 2d 949 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008), but we do note 
that disputes over the County's claims to Gulf Avenue have occurred over the years and 
were resolved when the County vacated its claims to that roadway in 1983.  
Accordingly, even if original, vested adjacent-land title did not pass at the times those 
adjacent lands were conveyed, section 177.085, and its predecessor—section 341.66—
would still mandate that the title to the land under Gulf Avenue be conveyed to the 
abutting property owners by way of the reversionary interest that vested following that 
vacation unless a competing claim of title was made under that statute, which did not 
occur here.  
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of what was Gulf Avenue, looking something like this: 

For the land to the west of Gulf Avenue, the relevant documents in the 

competing chains of title are the 1946 Boyd-to-Thomas deed and the 1952 Boyd-to-

Association deed.  For the land to the east, we need to look at the 1945 Ingalls-to-

Thomas deed, the stipulated consequences of Sarasota County's vacating Bee Street in 

1949, and the 1952 Boyd-to-Association deed.  Each of the relevant deeds described 

the property they conveyed by reference to Bee Street and Gulf Avenue.  The 1945 

Ingalls-to-Thomas deed conveyed Lot 10 of Block 60 as described on the 1912 plat, 

which placed Lot 10 at the point where Bee Street and Gulf Avenue met.  The 1946 

Boyd-to-Thomas deed and the 1952 Boyd-to-Association deed both described the land 

conveyed using boundaries marked by Bee Street and Gulf Avenue on the 1912 plat.

The 1912 plat map, although it expressly reserves any riparian rights 

within the plat to the original owners, contains no similar reservation of any interest in 
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the property underlying the roads shown on the plat.10  The same is true of the 1944 

replat.  And likewise, we do not see (and no party has contended otherwise) that any of 

the relevant deeds have either expressly excluded the land subject to the public 

easement as passing with the title to the various surrounding lands or have expressly 

reserved any reversionary or other interests in the adjacent lands.

With that background established, it becomes clear that either the 

Lehmanns or their predecessors in title owned the lands abutting both sides of Gulf 

Avenue, and thus they hold chain of title to the land under it in full.  

The Abutting-Land Possibility 

Western segment of part 1:  Assuming a common law dedication of Gulf 

Avenue resulting in an easement, the abutting-land principle applies to the western area 

of part 1 in a straightforward way.  Both the 1946 Boyd-to-Thomas deed (through which 

the Lehmanns claim title) and the 1952 Boyd-to-Association deed (through which the 

Association claims title) expressly reference Gulf Avenue on the 1912 plat map in the 

boundary descriptions.  Nothing in the record suggests that the 1944 replat of Gulf 

Avenue as Shell Road (if, as the Association argues, it was not a statutory dedication) 

did or could have changed the fact that, through the 1946 deed, the Thomases were 

given title to the land abutting the described property to the centerline of Gulf Avenue 

from the west.  Nor does anything in the record suggest that when the Boyds passed 

title to their various successors after the 1912 common law dedication, including the 

Thomases, they expressly reserved any interest they held in those portions of what was 

10The parties have not argued that reserved riparian rights associated with 
either the original Bayou Louise or the current Gulf of Mexico affect the determination of 
title to the Gulf Avenue parcel.



- 22 -

Gulf Avenue or Shell Road.  In the case of the western portion of part 1, this means that 

absent an express reservation of title by the Boyds, which did not occur, title passed 

from the Boyds to the Thomases in 1946.  See Smith, 70 So. at 436; Pelican Creek, 243 

So. 3d at 471.  As a result, the Boyds had no interest in the land under the western side 

of Gulf Avenue to convey to the Association in 1952.  Thus, even though the 1952 deed 

expressly purported to convey the land under Gulf Avenue, the Association cannot 

claim title to that land from the west based on that deed.  See Pelican Creek, 243 So. 

3d at 472.  The land belongs to the Lehmanns as the Thomases' successors in title.

Eastern segment of part 1:  Assuming a common law dedication of Gulf 

Avenue, the abutting-land principle is likewise applicable to how title to the eastern 

portion of the land under it passed, complicated only by the fact that that we must take 

the parties' stipulation that there were reversionary interests associated with Bee Street 

that vested when Sarasota County vacated Bee Street in 1949 into account in 

determining how title might have passed from the centerline of Gulf Avenue east to what 

was once the southern half of Bee Street.  Bee Street appears on both the 1912 and 

1944 plats, and all of the relevant deeds describe the properties abutting Bee Street 

using the actual boundaries of Bee Street or an imaginary westerly extension of it.  

When Bee Street was vacated in 1949, the Thomases owned Lot 10 of Block 60 

abutting the southern boundary of Bee Street by way of the 1945 Ingalls-to-Thomas 

deed.  Their reversionary interest in the property from the centerline of Bee Street to its 

southern boundary along Lot 10 vested into full ownership at that time.  Under the 

abutting-lands principle, then, the area from the centerline of Bee street south to 

northern boundary of Lot 10 became titled in the Thomases by way of the combination 

of the 1945 Ingalls-to-Thomas deed expressly passing title to Lot 10 and the vesting of 
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the reversionary interest in Bee Street in 1949.  From there, it necessarily follows that 

the Thomases held title to the property abutting Gulf Avenue to the east bounded to the 

north by the centerline of what was Bee Street in 1949—all prior to the 1952 deed on 

which the Association rests its claim.  And if Gulf Avenue was merely an easement, that 

encumbrance allowed the passing of title to the centerline of Gulf Avenue from the east 

for the same reasons described above in relation to the western side of part 1.  The 

eastern side of part 1 also is owned by the Lehmanns. 

The Reversion Possibility

We know that Gulf Avenue in 1912 and 1944 was, at minimum, a 

dedication of common law easement on those plats, and if that is all that it was on both 

plats, we have explained why as abutting-land title, the land under that easement was 

always outside the chain of title for the 1952 deed.  But we also recognize the existence 

of the theory that the 1944 replat or the operation of statutes that had been codified 

after 1912 may have converted the easement into a dedicated road that divested the 

dedicator of title to it and vested it with the Sarasota County.  See, e.g., § 95.361, Fla. 

Stat. (2018); § 341.51, Fla. Stat. (1935); Pelican Creek, 243 So. 3d at 471.  If that is 

true, then a reversionary interest that vested following the vacation of Gulf Avenue by 

the county would require consideration.  See § 177.085, Fla. Stat. (1983) (governing 

reversionary interests in platted streets when Gulf Avenue was vacated). 

In the possible conveyance of reversionary interests in Gulf Avenue prior 

to the 1952 Boyd-to-Association deed, we again consider the western and eastern 

segments of part 1.  In 1946, by way of the Boyd-to-Thomas deed, the Thomases 

acquired title to the property abutting the western boundary of Gulf Avenue in a chain of 

title separate from the chain of title through which they acquired the Ingalls property to 
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the east.  This property expressly included the area to the west of Gulf Avenue south 

from the centerline of an extended Bee Street.  Therefore the titled property to the west 

of the western subportion of part 1 of Gulf Avenue was expressly conveyed in the 1946 

deed and was not dependent on the vacation of Bee Street.  The 1945 deed coupled 

with the 1949 Bee Street reversion similarly titled all the adjacent land to the east of the 

eastern subportion of part 1.  It is therefore clear that title in the properties comprising 

the land on either side of the eastern and western boundaries of the Gulf Avenue parcel 

had vested fully in the Lehmann's predecessors in title—the Thomases—prior to the 

1952 Boyd-to-Association deed either by way of express conveyance or the vesting of 

title through a reversionary interest following the vacation of Bee Street.  For the 

reversionary-interest consideration for the western part of part 1, then, this means only 

answering the question of whether titleholders of the adjacent land to the west of part 1, 

the Lehmanns stemming from the Boyd-Thomas chain of title, held the reversionary 

interest that vested in 1983 upon the vacation of Gulf Avenue or whether the Boyds 

otherwise passed that interest to the Association in 1952.  To the extent such a 

reversionary interest existed, nothing in our record shows that the Boyds expressly 

reserved it when they conveyed title to the Thomases in 1946, and absent more, that 

means the reversionary interest vested with the abutting-land titleholder to the west in 

1983.  See § 177.085.  None of the deeds passing title after that point otherwise 

exclude such a reversionary interest, see § 177.085(1), nor has the Association shown 

that it sought to establish such a right after the 1983 vacation of Gulf Avenue pursuant 

to section 177.085(2).  

The same reasoning also applies to the eastern side of part 1 for the 

Ingalls chain of title.  The caveat is that those in the Ingalls chain of title acquired vested 
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title to land east of part 1 with one additional step—that is when the reversionary 

interest in the southern half of Bee Street vested in 1949.  But how title to the property 

between the southern edge and centerline of Bee Street to the east of part 1 vested is 

not as important as the fact that it happened no later than 1949, and there is, like its 

corresponding chain of title to the west, no evidence of an express reservation of that 

interest such that it could have reverted to anyone but the Lehmanns by way of the 

Ingalls-Thomas chain of title.

Thus, the Lehmanns correctly maintain that at the time that the 1952 deed 

purported to expressly convey title to the Gulf-Avenue-bounded property now at issue, 

the Boyds did not own any interest, expressly titled or reversionary, because it was 

already conveyed to the Thomases in the 1945 and 1946 deeds and the vesting of the 

Bee Street reversion no later than 1949.  Each relevant deed expressly conveys any 

reversionary interests associated with the property conveyed.  The Association argues 

that the portion of the disputed parcel bounded by Gulf Avenue was always 

unencumbered land owned by the Boyds until it was conveyed to the Association in 

1952.  This analysis fails to account for whether the titles to the surrounding lands that 

passed to the Thomases included the passing of any interests in the land that was Gulf 

Avenue other than by way of express inclusion.  As we have explained, deeds before 

1952 passed either full title or reversionary interests in that property. 

Conclusion

However one looks at it, the Lehmanns acquired title to what the trial court 

described as part 1 of the disputed parcel by virtue of the conveyance of title of the 

abutting lands or reversionary interests in part 1 prior to the Boyds' attempted 

conveyance of that land to the Association in 1952.  Thus, the trial court erred when it 
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settled title to what it called part 1 based on a chain of title stemming from the 1952 

Boyd-to-Association deed.  We reverse that portion of the final judgment, and the 

related order of the trial court directing the disbursement of funds from the court registry, 

and we affirm the remaining portions of the final judgment.  We remand with instructions 

to the trial court to enter a judgment settling title to the entirety of the disputed parcel in 

the Lehmanns.

Affirmed in part; reversed in part; remanded with instructions.

LaROSE, C.J., and BADALAMENTI, J., Concur.
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Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., appeals from a final judgment of foreclosure 

entered in favor of Quest Systems, LLC, after a bench trial.  We reverse and remand for 

entry of a final judgment of foreclosure in favor of Wells Fargo.  

At the conclusion of Wells Fargo's case, Quest moved for an involuntary 

dismissal.  The trial court granted the motion and dismissed the case based on its 

determination that Wells Fargo had failed to prove its prima facie case because it had 

not properly authenticated a loan modification agreement that the court had 

nevertheless previously admitted into evidence.  

While the parties have raised a multitude of issues in this appeal, we need 

reach only one of them.  We conclude that the trial court erred when it refused to 

consider the loan modification agreement because it had not been properly 

authenticated.  Such agreements are self-authenticating under section 90.902(8), 

Florida Statutes (2017), which provides that documents relating to commercial paper 

are self-authenticating.  Hence, the loan modification agreement should have been 

considered by the court, and the court should have entered a final judgment of 

foreclosure in favor of Wells Fargo based on the amounts due and owing on the note 

and mortgage, as modified by the loan modification agreement.  

In light of this conclusion, we reverse the involuntary dismissal and 

remand for entry of a judgment in favor of Wells Fargo.  

Reversed and remanded for further proceedings.  

KELLY and KHOUZAM, JJ., Concur.  



Third District Court of Appeal
State of Florida

Opinion filed April 3, 2019.
Not final until disposition of timely filed motion for rehearing.

________________

No. 3D18-1497
Lower Tribunal No. 11-3727

________________

Francesca Bazzichelli,
Appellant,

vs.

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, etc.,
Appellee.

An Appeal from the Circuit Court for Miami-Dade County, Jose M. 
Rodriguez, Judge.

The AJM Law Group, P.A. and Alix J. Montes, for appellant.

Baker, Donelson, Bearman, Caldwell & Berkowitz and Eve A. Cann (Fort 
Lauderdale), for appellee.

Before SALTER, LINDSEY, and MILLER, JJ.

SALTER, J.



The borrower/defendant in a residential foreclosure case, Francesca 

Bazzichelli, appeals a post-judgment order denying her “Amended Objection to 

Issuance of Certificate of Title [and] Motion to Vacate Amended Final Judgment 

and February 2017 Sale,” entered in July 2018.  The final judgment of foreclosure 

was entered in April 2014 and amended to reflect a change in the name of the 

plaintiff (appellee here) five months later.  

Following Ms. Bazzichelli’s bankruptcy proceedings and a foreclosure sale 

in February 2017, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee for 

Residential Accredit Loans, Inc., Mortgage Asset-Backed Pass-Through 

Certificates, Series 2006-QS7 (“Deutsche Bank”), moved to re-open the case to 

amend its name in the final judgment of foreclosure and certificate of title.  

Deutsche Bank alleged that the use of an erroneously-abbreviated name for 

Deutsche Bank in those documents had created an inadvertent title impediment 

affecting Deutsche Bank’s sale of the property to a bona fide purchaser.

Though not denominated as such in the caption or body of the motion, the 

motion fits comfortably within the rule and case law applicable to the correction of 

“[c]lerical mistakes” in “judgments, decrees, or other parts of the record and errors 

therein arising from oversight or omission,” which “may be corrected by the court 

at any time on its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such 

notice, if any, as the court orders.”   Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.540(a); see also Keller v. 
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Becher, 256 So. 2d 561, 563 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971) (“clerical mistakes include only 

errors or mistakes arising from accidental slip or omission and not errors or 

mistakes in the substance of what is decided by the judgment or order.”).  Name 

changes are permitted under Rule 1.540(a) at any time.  Howard v. State, 139 So. 

3d 975, 977 (Fla. 4th DCA 2014).  

Ms. Bazzichelli neither alleged nor proved that the amendment altered the 

substance of the final judgment of foreclosure or the certificate of title as to her.  

We also reject her further argument that she should be allowed to use the July 2018 

order approving the amendment to the final judgment as a new occasion for 

seeking to have the entire foreclosure judgment and subsequent certificate of sale 

vacated.  As the trial court properly ruled, any errors in the substance of the final 

judgment or the 2017 amendment should have been (but were not) raised on appeal 

from those rulings.  See DeGale v. Krongold , Bass & Todd, 773 So. 2d 630, 632 

(Fla. 3d DCA 2000).  Ms. Bazzichelli’s motion to vacate was properly denied.

Affirmed.
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WARNER, J. 
 
 In entering final judgment of foreclosure, the trial court found that the 
appellee had proved standing, relying on the presumption created in Ortiz 
v. PNC Bank, National Ass’n, 188 So. 3d 923, 925 (Fla. 4th DCA 2016).  We 
affirm, as we agree that the presumption applies and write to distinguish 
this case from Friedle v. Bank of New York Mellon, 226 So. 3d 976 (Fla. 4th 
DCA 2017). 

 
Under Ortiz, if the lender “files with the court the original note in the 

same condition as the copy attached to the complaint, then . . . such 
evidence is sufficient to” show that the lender actually possessed the note 
when it filed the complaint, and thus, had standing to bring the foreclosure 
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action.  Ortiz, 188 So. 3d at 925.  However, if there is any evidence or 
testimony to the contrary, additional proof may be required to show 
standing.  Id. n.2.  Here, the trial court held that the appellee had proved 
its standing because the note attached to the complaint was the same as 
the note introduced at trial.  Although the loan number at the top of the 
copy of the note was redacted, this was for filing purposes.  Thus, the 
presumption established in Ortiz applied. 

 
In Friedle, we held that the bank had not proved standing under Ortiz 

because the copy of the promissory note was not in the same condition as 
the original note introduced at trial, even where those differences were 
minor but unexplained.  Friedle, 226 So. 3d at 978-79.  We noted that 
Ortiz had not been decided at the time of the trial in Friedle, so there was 
no explanation of the differences between the copy of the note filed with 
the complaint and the original introduced at trial.  Id. at 979. 

 
Because both Ortiz and Friedle were decided at the time of the trial in 

this case, the court addressed the discrepancy, and it noted that the only 
difference between the copy of the note attached to the complaint and the 
original note was the redaction of the loan numbers at the top of the 
instrument.  Redaction of loan numbers is required upon filing by Florida 
Rule of Judicial Administration 2.425(a)(4)(I).  Although the rule requires 
the redaction of only the last four numbers, we see no issue with the 
application of the Ortiz presumption when more of the loan numbers are 
redacted.  Here, the court viewed both the electronically filed copy attached 
to the complaint and the original note presented at trial, and it concluded 
that only the loan number was redacted, as required for filing.  Thus, there 
was an explanation of the difference between the copy and the original.  
Other than the redaction, the original note was in the same condition as 
the copy attached to the complaint, and such evidence was sufficient to 
invoke the Ortiz presumption.  Because the appellant offered no evidence 
to rebut the presumption, the court could rely on it to determine that 
appellee had proved standing to foreclose the mortgage.1 

 
We affirm as to all other issues raised.  

 
1  The court also relied on the Pooling and Service Agreement, by which the 
appellee acquired the loan, which was properly admitted into evidence and 
included the appellants’ loan among those assets transferred into the trust.  See 
Bolous v. U.S. Bank Nat’l Ass’n, 210 So. 3d 691, 693-94 (Fla. 4th DCA 2016) 
(finding Bank had standing to bring foreclosure action where the subject PSA was 
moved into evidence without objection; the PSA identified the Bank as the trustee, 
and the corresponding mortgage loan schedule listed the appellant’s loan). 
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GROSS, J., and WEISS, DALIAH, Associate Judge, concur. 
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PER CURIAM. 
 

Florida Organic Aquaculture, LLC (“Florida Organic”) appeals a final judgment 

awarding attorney’s fees to Advent Environmental Systems, LLC (“Advent”) following a 

contract dispute. Florida Organic argues that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to enter 

orders and a judgment awarding Advent costs and attorney’s fees after it denied Advent’s 

motion for rehearing on its motion to tax costs and attorney’s fees. We agree and reverse. 
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After serving Florida Organic with a complaint for breach of contract, Advent made 

an offer of judgment for $50,000, which Florida Organic elected not to accept. The case 

proceeded to trial, and the court entered a final judgment on Advent’s behalf for $65,000, 

reserving jurisdiction to award costs and attorney’s fees. Advent filed a motion to tax costs 

and attorney’s fees based on the final judgment and the offer of judgment rejected by 

Florida Organic.1 On April 25, 2016, following a hearing, the trial court granted Advent’s 

motion as to costs but denied it as to attorney’s fees based on Diamond Aircraft Industries, 

Inc. v. Horowitch, 107 So. 3d 362 (Fla. 2013).  

Advent timely moved for rehearing and to stay the case pending the Florida 

Supreme Court’s review of the certified conflict between Borden Dairy Co. of Alabama v. 

Kuhajda, 171 So. 3d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 2015) (relying on Diamond Aircraft, 107 So. 3d at 

362), and Bennett v. American Learning Systems of Boca Delray, Inc., 857 So. 2d 986 

(Fla. 4th DCA 2003). The trial court granted the stay. 

On October 20, 2016, the Florida Supreme Court rendered its decision on the 

conflict. See Kuhajda v. Borden Dairy Co. of Ala., 202 So. 3d 391 (Fla. 2016). The 

following day, Advent scheduled a hearing on its motion for rehearing. Florida Organic 

filed a supplemental memorandum arguing that the facts and law related to Advent’s offer 

of judgment had not changed and that there were no new issues that required rehearing. 

On October 27, 2016, the trial court summarily denied Advent’s motion for rehearing and 

cancelled the hearing on the motion. 

                                            
1 The parties entered a stipulation regarding the amount and reasonableness of 

taxable costs and attorney’s fees. 
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On October 31, 2016, Advent filed a motion for reconsideration of the order 

denying its motion for rehearing and a memorandum of law in support thereof. On 

November 16, 2016, the trial court granted Advent’s motion for reconsideration and 

scheduled a hearing on the matter. At the hearing, Florida Organic argued that the trial 

court lacked jurisdiction to reconsider the denial of a motion for rehearing. On February 

1, 2017, the trial court vacated its April 25, 2016 order granting Advent costs but denying 

it attorney’s fees and granted Advent’s motion to tax costs and attorney’s fees in totality. 

On February 2, 2017, it entered a final judgment granting Advent costs and attorney’s 

fees. This appeal followed. 

The issue for our determination is whether the trial court lacked jurisdiction to enter 

orders and the judgment granting attorney’s fees and costs after it denied Advent’s motion 

for rehearing on October 27, 2016. In deciding this issue, we must analyze whether the 

order denying Advent’s motion for rehearing was a final order. If so, it divested the trial 

court of jurisdiction to hear Advent’s motion for reconsideration and to enter a final 

judgment awarding costs or attorney’s fees. E.g., State ex rel. Cantera v. Dist. Ct. App., 

Third Dist., 555 So. 2d 360, 362 (Fla. 1990) (explaining that the trial court lost jurisdiction 

over the matter when it denied a motion for rehearing of the final order and that trial courts 

are not permitted to authorize motions for rehearing beyond those allowed by Rule 1.530 

(citing Capital Bank v. Knuck, 537 So. 2d 697, 698 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989))); Markevitch v. 

Van Harren, 429 So. 2d 1255, 1256 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (noting that the rules of civil 

procedure do not authorize a second motion for rehearing). 

An order, judgment, or decree is final if it “constitutes an end to the judicial labor in 

the cause, and nothing further remains to be done by the court to effectuate a termination 
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of the cause as between the parties directly affected.” S.L.T. Warehouse Co. v. Webb, 

304 So. 2d 97, 99 (Fla. 1974). We have held that a final judgment reserving jurisdiction 

to award attorney’s fees or granting attorney’s fees but reserving jurisdiction to determine 

the amount is nonfinal as to the issue of attorney’s fees. Mills v. Martinez, 909 So. 2d 340, 

342 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005) (“An award of attorneys’ fees does not become final, and, 

therefore, appealable until the amount is set by the trial court.” (citing Sanders v. Palmieri, 

849 So. 2d 417, 417 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003))). However, post-judgment orders denying 

attorney’s fees are final orders, unless it is clear from the order that the trial court did not 

intend to end its judicial labor. See Fabing v. Eaton, 941 So. 2d 415, 417–18 (Fla. 2d DCA 

2006) (holding that order denying motion for attorney’s fees was final because the trial 

court did not enter it without prejudice and did not permit movant to reargue the merits of 

the motion in the future). Here, the trial court entered the order denying Advent attorney’s 

fees following a final judgment that reserved jurisdiction to rule on costs and attorney’s 

fees. Accordingly, we find that the order granting Advent costs and denying it attorney’s 

fees was a final order when the trial court entered it on April 25, 2016.  

Advent’s subsequent motion for rehearing was proper pursuant to Florida Rule of 

Civil Procedure 1.530 because Advent timely directed it at a final order.2 However, the 

entry of an order denying a motion for rehearing divests a trial court of jurisdiction to 

conduct further proceedings, including hearing and ruling on a second motion for 

rehearing. E.g., Cantera, 555 So. 2d at 362; Markevitch, 429 So. 2d at 1256; see also 

                                            
2 Motions for rehearing are governed by Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.530, 

which “has been consistently construed to authorize rehearings of orders and judgments 
which are final in nature.” Capone v. Philip Morris USA, Inc., 116 So. 3d 363, 372 (Fla. 
2013) (citing Deal v. Deal, 783 So. 2d 319, 321 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001)). 
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A.W. Baylor Plastering, Inc. v. Mellon Stuart Co., 611 So. 2d 108, 110 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) 

(“[O]nce a judgment becomes final—as where (a) a final judgment has been entered, and 

(b) a motion for rehearing under 1.530 has been denied or not such motion is filed and 

the ten days for filing same has expired—the trial court loses jurisdiction to rehear the 

judgment on the merits.” (quoting Herskowitz v. Herskowitz, 513 So. 2d 1318, 1319 (Fla. 

3d DCA 1987))). We hold that when the trial court denied Advent’s motion for rehearing 

on October 27, 2016, it was divested of jurisdiction to rehear the question of attorney’s 

fees and costs.  

While Advent titled its October 31, 2016 motion as one for reconsideration of the 

order denying rehearing, motions for reconsideration apply only to “nonfinal, interlocutory 

orders, and are based on a trial court’s ‘inherent authority to reconsider and, if deemed 

appropriate, alter or retract any of its nonfinal rulings prior to entry of the final judgment 

or order terminating an action.’” Seigler v. Bell, 148 So. 3d 473, 478 (Fla. 5th DCA 2014) 

(emphasis added) (quoting Silvestrone v. Edell, 721 So. 2d 1173, 1175 (Fla. 1998)). Here, 

Advent did not direct its motion towards a nonfinal order entered prior to final judgment; 

rather, it filed the motion regarding the order denying rehearing entered after final 

judgment. Accordingly, we find that Advent’s motion for reconsideration was actually a 

second motion for rehearing, which is not permitted under the Florida Rules of Civil 

Procedure. E.g., Markevitch, 429 So. 2d at 1256.  

We note that after a trial court rules on a motion for rehearing, it retains jurisdiction 

only to enter post-decretal orders to effectuate the judgment or to consider motions 

pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540. See St. Cloud Utils. v. Moore, 410 So. 

2d 973, 974 n.3 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) (“The trial court loses jurisdiction, except to enforce 
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the judgment and except as provided by Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540, when the 

time for filing a motion for rehearing or new trial has expired, or if such motion has been 

timely filed, when it is ruled upon.” (citations omitted)); see also De Ardila v. Chase 

Manhattan Mortg. Corp., 826 So. 2d 419, 421 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (“The trial judge lost 

jurisdiction, (except for the entry of post decretal orders to effectuate the final judgment), 

when, having denied the relief sought, she then denied the mortgagor’s request for 

rehearing.”). Rule 1.540 allows relief from judgment based on mistake, inadvertence, 

surprise, excusable neglect, newly discovered evidence, fraud, a void or satisfied 

judgment, or a clerical mistake. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.540.  

Here, Advent did not allege in its motion for reconsideration any of the grounds set 

forth in Rule 1.540 as a basis for relief from the judgment; it argued only on the merits of 

the disputed legal issue.3 Because the April 25, 2016 order granting costs and denying 

attorney’s fees was a final order, Advent’s only available avenue of relief was to file a 

notice of appeal within thirty days of the trial court’s denial of its motion for rehearing on 

October 27, 2016. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.110(b) (providing that a party must file an appeal 

within thirty days of rendition of the order to be reviewed); Fla. R. App. P. 9.020(h)(1)(B) 

(providing that timely and authorized motions for rehearing toll rendition of final orders); 

cf. Helmich v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 136 So. 3d 763, 764 (Fla. 1st DCA 2014) (“It is 

                                            
3 Even if Advent labeled its motion as one pursuant to Rule 1.540, a trial court is 

limited by the narrow grounds stated in Rule 1.540 “and is not empowered to revisit a final 
judgment on the merits so as to correct errors of law as the trial court may do on a motion 
for rehearing.” A.W. Baylor Plastering, 611 So. 2d at 109–10 (quoting Herskowitz, 513 
So. 2d at 1319). Rule 1.540 is not intended to serve as a substitute for appellate review 
of judicial error. Id. at 109; see also Curbelo v. Ullman, 571 So. 2d 443 (Fla. 1990) 
(explaining that a “mistaken view of the law” is not a “mistake” as contemplated by Rule 
1.540 (citation omitted)). 
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axiomatic that an appeal must be filed within thirty days of entry of the final judgment; this 

is jurisdictional and irremediable. It is also clear that a party’s motion for 

rehearing/reconsideration directed at denial of relief from judgment is unauthorized and 

will not toll the unwavering thirty-day time limit.” (citations omitted)). Thus, the trial court 

improperly granted Advent’s motion for reconsideration on November 16, 2016, as it did 

not have jurisdiction to rule on the motion.  

Accordingly, we reverse and remand with instructions to vacate all orders entered 

after the denial of Advent’s motion for rehearing on October 27, 2016, including the 

February 2, 2017 final judgment, and to reinstate the April 25, 2016 order granting Advent 

costs and denying it attorney’s fees. 

REVERSED and REMANDED with instructions. 

 
 
COHEN, EISNAUGLE and SASSO, JJ., concur. 
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